

LUND UNIVERSITY

Mortality and morbidity among heart transplant recipients in Sweden. Limitations of a life with a transplanted heart.

Gjesdal, Grunde

2024

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Gjesdal, G. (2024). Mortality and morbidity among heart transplant recipients in Sweden. Limitations of a life with a transplanted heart. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Mortality and morbidity among heart transplant recipients in Sweden Limitations of a life with a transplanted heart

GRUNDE GJESDAL DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES LUND | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



GRUNDE GJESDAL was born in Oslo, Norway, in 1979. In 2000 he started his medical education at Syddansk University in Odense, Denmark. After completing his internship at Bærum Hospital outside Oslo in 2008, he moved to Skåne, Sweden, where his career began as a resident of emergency and internal medicine at Skåne University Hospital in Lund. After completing his residency in internal medicine, he transferred to the Department of Cardiology. Since 2016, he has worked as a cardiologist with a focus on advanced heart failure and heart transplantation.





FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Clinical Sciences Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:105 ISBN 978-91-8021-601-2 ISSN 1652-8220



Mortality and morbidity among heart transplant recipients in Sweden

Limitations of a life with a transplanted heart

Grunde Gjesdal



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University, Sweden. To be defended on September 20, 2024 at 9:00 am in Segerfalk Hall, BMC, Lund

> *Faculty opponent* Kasper Rossing Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: Doctoral Dissertation

Author(s): Grunde Gjesdal

Title and subtitle: Mortality and morbidity among heart transplant recipients in Sweden - Limitations of a life with a transplanted heart

Abstract:

Background

For carefully selected patients with advanced heart failure, heart transplantation is the optimal treatment to improve survival (1) and quality of life (2). Nevertheless, morbidity within the group is substantial (3). In the present thesis, we aimed to explore outcomes among Swedish heart transplant recipients regarding mortality, comorbidity, and physical limitations related to the physiology of a transplanted heart.

Methods

Retrospective data from local and nationwide Swedish registries were used to analyze mortality and psychiatric comorbidity. Patient records were reviewed to determine death causes and to collect background characteristics of included patients treated at Skåne University Hospital. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in combination with cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) was used for the mechanistic studies.

Results

Although medical treatment has improved and survival after heart transplantation in Sweden is both excellent and continuing to improve, acute rejections of transplanted hearts are still responsible for the loss of many patient life-years. Psychiatric comorbidities are common both before and after transplant surgery. Exercise capacity in heart-transplanted patients is lower than in healthy controls and may be restricted by the transplant recipients' reduced longitudinal heart function and limited ability to increase myocardial perfusion.

Conclusions

The thesis presents a broad glance into the limitations of a life with a transplanted heart and may contribute to identifying areas needing further investigation.

Key words: Heart transplantation, mortality, morbidity, centralization, life years lost, psychiatric comorbidity, cardiac magnetic resonance, left ventricular atrioventricular plane displacement, myocardial perfusion

Language: English

ISSN and key title: 1652-8220, Lund University, Faculty of Medicine, Doctoral Dissertation Series 2024:105

ISBN: 978-91-8021-601-2

Number of pages: 76

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2024-08-08

Mortality and morbidity among heart transplant recipients in Sweden

Limitations of a life with a transplanted heart

Grunde Gjesdal



Main supervisor: Oscar Ö. Braun Co-supervisors: Johan Nilsson, Gustav Smith and Patrik Tydén Cover photo by Grunde Gjesdal Copyright pp. 1-76 Grunde Gjesdal

Paper 1 © Elsevier Paper 2 © Wiley Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 5 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences Lund

ISBN 978-91-8021-601-2 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2024



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

Dedicated to my two favorite girls and the little guy who commands all of our attention

Against the background of this research and with our own experience in the experimental laboratories, backed by the knowledge of the surgical management and post-operative care of patiwents undergoing major cardiac surgery, the time arrived when a cardiac transplant could be contemplated with hope of success.

Christiaan N. Barnard. The operation. South African Medical Journal, 1967

Table of Contents

Abstract	8
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	9
List of Papers	10
Author's contribution to the papers	11
Abbreviations	12
Introduction	15
Heart transplantation 1967 to 2024	16
Dr. Christiaan Barnard and the first heart transplant	16
The work that paved the way	
Dr. Norman Shumway	17
The 1970s - Stanford in the lead	18
Rejections constraining outcome	
The first immunosuppressant regimes	
Declining interest in heart transplants among peers	
The immune system at a glance	
The innate and adaptive immune system	
Allograft rejection	21
The 1980s - The Golden Era	
The ISHLT and the multidisciplinary approach	
Ciclosporin shifting the mood	
Prophylactic anti-microbial and anti-viral therapy	
Development of the bicaval operating technique	
The dawn of heart transplantation in Sweden	
The 1990s - Standardized follow-up and improved survival rates	
Margaret Billingham and the standardization of rejection grading	
Pravastatin and improved 1-year outcomes	
Antimetabolites - Mycophenolic acid replaces azathioprine	
The challenge of improved survival	

The millennium and beyond – Focus on long-term constraints	
The CNI-switch – Tacrolimus taking over	
Antibody-mediated rejection gaining attention	
CAV and the mTOR-inhibitors	
Induction or no induction, that is the question	
Human leukocyte antigen: optimizing the donor-recipient match	
Ticking the boxes: organ preservation in modern day	
The future of rejection surveillance	
So what about morbidity?	34
Aims	36
Present investigations	
Paper I	
Methods	
Main findings	
Paper II	
Methods	
Main findings	
Paper III	
Methods	
Main findings	
Paper IV-V	48
Methods	
Main findings	52
Conclusion	55
Future perspectives	57
Tack!	
References	62

Abstract

Background

For carefully selected patients with advanced heart failure, heart transplantation is the optimal treatment to improve survival (1) and quality of life (2). Nevertheless, morbidity within the group is substantial (3). In the present thesis, we aimed to explore outcomes among Swedish heart transplant recipients regarding mortality, comorbidity, and physical limitations related to the physiology of a transplanted heart.

Methods

Retrospective data from local and nationwide Swedish registries were used to analyze mortality and psychiatric comorbidity. Patient records were reviewed to determine death causes and to collect background characteristics of included patients treated at Skåne University Hospital. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in combination with cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) was used for the mechanistic studies.

Results

Although medical treatment has improved and survival after heart transplantation in Sweden is both excellent and continuing to improve, acute rejections of transplanted hearts are still responsible for the loss of many patient life-years. Psychiatric comorbidities are common both before and after transplant surgery. Exercise capacity in heart-transplanted patients is lower than in healthy controls and may be restricted by the transplant recipients' reduced longitudinal heart function and limited ability to increase myocardial perfusion.

Conclusions

The thesis presents a broad glance into the limitations of a life with a transplanted heart and may contribute to identifying areas needing further investigation.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Bakgrund

För noggrant utvalda patienter med avancerad hjärtsvikt är hjärttransplantation den optimala behandlingen för att förbättra överlevnad och livskvalitet. Men trots detta är sjukligheten fortfarande betydande inom gruppen. Med avhandlingen ville vi undersöka utfallet bland hjärttransplanterade patienter i Sverige med fokus på dödlighet, samsjuklighet och fysiska begränsningar som är relaterade till det transplanterade hjärtats fysiologi.

Metodik

Retrospektiva registerdata från flera stora båda lokala och rikstäckande register användes för analys av dödlighet och psykiatrisk samsjuklighet. Journaldata granskades för bestämmelse av dödsorsaker och inhämtning av bakgrundsinformation gällande undersökta patienter lokala till Skånes Universitetssjukhus. Magnetisk resonanstomografi av hjärtat i kombination med ergospirometri användes för de fysiologiska studierna.

Resultat

Även om den medicinska behandlingen har förbättrats enormt och överlevnaden efter hjärttransplantation i Sverige är både utmärkt och i förbättring, orsakar akuta avstötningar fortfarande många förlorade levnadsår för patienterna, och psykiatrisk samsjuklighet är vanligt både innan och efter transplantationen. Den fysiska arbetsförmågan hos hjärttransplanterade patienter är fortfarande lägre än hos den friska befolkningen och kan begränsas av både nedsatt longitudinell hjärtfunktion och minskad förmåga att öka hjärtats genomblödning.

Slutsatser

Avhandlingen ger en bred inblick i begränsningarna i livet med ett transplanterat hjärta och kan förhoppningsvis bidra till att identifiera områden som behöver undersökas ytterligare.

List of Papers

Paper I

Gjesdal G, Rylance RT, Bergh N, Dellgren G, Braun OÖ, Nilsson J. Waiting list and post-transplant outcome in Sweden after national centralization of heart transplant surgery. *J Heart Lung Transplant*. 2024 Aug; 43(8), 1318-1325

Paper II

Gjesdal G, Lundgren J, Czuba T, Wareham NE, Gustafsson F, Nilsson J, Smith JG, Braun OÖ. Validation of cause of death classification after heart transplantation and cause-specific life expectancy compared to the general population. *Clin Transplant*. 2022 Sep;36(9), e14756

Paper III

Gjesdal G, Li X, Milos Nymberg V, Smith JG, Sundquist K, Braun OÖ. Depression and Anxiety in Heart Transplant Recipients in Sweden: A Nationwide Study. *Manuscript*.

Paper IV

Gjesdal G, Székely A, Engblom H, Arheden H, Braun OÖ, Steding-Ehrenborg K. Left ventricular longitudinal function is reduced, but partially compensated by increased radial function after heart transplantation. *Manuscript*.

Paper V

Dimovski K, **Gjesdal G**, Steding-Ehrenborg K, Jablonowski R, Xue H, Kellman P, Braun OÖ, Arheden H, Engblom H. Myocardial perfusion reserve is low in heart transplant patients and is related to exercise capacity. *Submitted manuscript*.

Author's contribution to the papers

Paper I

The author participated in the conceptualization, methodology development and wrote the original draft of the manuscript.

Paper II

The author participated in methodology development, validation of death causes, and wrote the original draft of the manuscript.

Paper III

The author participated in the conceptualization, methodology development and wrote the original draft of the manuscript.

Paper IV

The author participated in the conceptualization, methodology development, analysis of CMR investigations, and statistical analyses, and wrote the original draft of the manuscript.

Paper V

The author participated in the conceptualization and editing of the manuscript.

Abbreviations

ACR	acute cellular rejection	
AMR	antibody-mediated rejection	
APC	antigen presenting cells	
ATG	anti-thymocyte globulin	
AVPD	atrioventricular plane displacement	
AZA	azathioprine	
BPM	beats per minute	
C3b	complement factor 3b	
CAV	cardiac allograft vasculopathy	
CMR	cardiac magnetic resonance	
CMV	cytomegalovirus	
CNI	calcineurin inhibitor	
CPET	cardiopulmonary exercise test	
CR1	complement receptor 1	
СуА	ciclosporin	
DAMPs	damage-associated molecular patterns	
DBD	death by brain death	
dd-cfDNA	donor-derived cell-free DNA	
DSA	donor-specific antibody	
ECG	electrocardiogram	
ECV	extracellular volume	
ECMO	extracorporeal membrane oxygenation	
ED	end-diastole	
ES	end-systole	
FDA	US Food and Drug Administration	
G1/2	cell cycle gap phases 1 and 2	
GEP	gene expression profiling	
GFR	glomerular filtration rate	
HLA	human leukocyte antigen	
IL2	interleukin 2	
IL2RA	interleukin 2 receptor antagonist	

ISHLT	International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation		
IVUS	intravascular ultrasound		
LGE	late gadolinium enhancement		
LVAD	left ventricular assist device		
LVAVPD	left ventricular atrioventricular plane displacement		
LVEF	left ventricular ejection fraction		
М	cell cycle mitosis phase		
MAC	membrane attack complex		
MHC	major histocompatibility complex		
MMF	mycophenolate mofetil		
MP	myocardial perfusion		
MPA	mycophenolic acid		
MPR	myocardial perfusion reserve		
MR	magnetic resonance		
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin		
NEJM	New England Journal of Medicine		
NFAT	dephosphorylated nuclear factor of activated T-cells		
peakVO ₂	peak oxygen consumption		
PRR	pattern recognition receptor		
RPP	rate pressure product		
S	cell cycle synthesis		
STE	steroids		
STRAX	Swedish Thoracic Transplant Register		
SV	stroke volume		
SWEDEHEART	Swedish Web-system for Enhancement and Development of Evidence-based care in Heart disease		
TAPSE	tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion		
TNF	tumor necrosis factor		
UNOS	United Network for Organ Sharing		

Introduction

Since starting my medical career with a residency in emergency medicine and general internal medicine 16 years ago, I have considered myself a clinician, and believed that my abilities are better suited to interact with patients rather than scientific research. On a few occasions I was given the option of becoming a PhD student, but I always felt content focusing on my clinical career.

After completing my internship in cardiology, I was offered the opportunity to work with advanced heart failure and transplantation. A field where I felt that I could benefit from my broad clinical background. For the first time, I got the opportunity to explore research inspired by clinical curiosity. Today, I see myself as a combination of an advanced heart failure specialist and primary care physician for some 150 heart transplanted recipients.

This thesis, driven by curiosity awakened in the meetings with these patients in the non-pretentious environment of our heart failure and transplantation team, is dedicated to all those who make my days both rewarding, challenging, and most of all, enjoyable.

To my patients, my combined colleagues, scientific supervisors, and friends, and most of all - to my family.

Heart transplantation 1967 to 2024

Dr. Christiaan Barnard and the first heart transplant

The first human heart transplant was performed by Dr. Christiaan Barnard and his colleagues at Groote Schuur Hospital in Cape Town, South Africa in December 1967 (4) (Figure 1). The patient, 55-year-old Louis Washkansky, suffered from terminal heart failure. The donor, a 25-year-old woman named Denise Darvall, was the victim of a car accident and had been proclaimed brain-dead by neurologists (5). The heart transplant surgery went well, and post-transplant immunosuppression was managed using a combination of intravenous hydrocortisone, prednisone, azathioprine, and local irradiation of the heart using a one curie source of cobalt. The transplant recipient Mr. Washkansky lived for a total of 18 days after the surgery, but ultimately died of sepsis, which was initially misinterpreted as acute rejection. Dr. Barnard later explained at the Dick Savett Show (6, 7) that he believed the source of sepsis to be an infection in Mr. Washkansky's leg that was caused by needles used for fluid drainage and present at the time of transplantation.



Figure 1: News of the first heart transplant in December 1968 (8). Reprint with permission of Elsevier©, license 5770080049939.

The work that paved the way

That Dr. Barnard, not residing in the US, was the one to perform the first heart transplant somewhat surprised the medical community. However, the timing was not coincidental. Leading up to the surgery, progress had been made at several pivotal points and Dr. Barnards achievement would not have been possible without the work of many other pioneers. The French surgeon Alexis Carrel won the Nobel Prize in Medicine 1912 for his work on vascular anastomoses (9). The Russian scientist Vladimir Dhemikov performed several canine heart transplants as early as in the 1940s and 1950s (10), and the US surgeon from Mississippi James Hardy attempted the first xenotransplantation of a chimpanzee heart into 68-year-old Boyd Rush in 1964. Rush died a mere hour after the transplant (11).

Dr. Norman Shumway

The US surgeon Norman Shumway at Stanford has since been widely regarded as the "father of heart transplant" (12), and was expected by many to be the one to perform the first human heart transplant. Together with his colleague Richard Lower, Shumway developed the surgical technique that is still widely used today (13). Shumway performed the fourth-ever human heart transplant in early January 1968. Later the same year, over 100 heart transplants would be performed worldwide (12). Despite early enthusiasm, disappointing patient survival caused by a high incidence of life-threatening acute rejections soon dampened the interest (Table 1a-b). By the early 1970s, only a few transplants were performed yearly.

Table 1a: Survival of the first	st 60 heart transplant recipients (14)
---------------------------------	--

			Duration of Survival			
	<1 day	1 day – 1 month	1 month – 1 year	1-2 years	>2 years	Total
Number	11	19	19	7	4	60

	Cause of Death				
	Rejection	Infection	Cardiac	Other	Total
Number	11	19	19	7	56

The 1970s - Stanford in the lead

Rejections constraining outcome

In 1971, Shumway and his colleagues at Stanford reported that they had performed 26 heart transplants. Six-month survival was 42%, one-year survival 37%, and twoyear survival 26% (15). Early graft rejection was still the main obstacle. Routine post-transplant follow-up consisted of monitoring the blood pressure and auscultation for the presence of gallop-rhythm. Echocardiograms were performed in order to assess for potential thickening of the left ventricular wall or increasing right ventricular diameter, and repeated electrocardiograms (ECG) were evaluated for decreasing QRS voltage, arrhythmias, right axis shifts, and ST-T wave changes.

The first immunosuppressant regimes

Around the same time, Scottish surgeon Philip Caves who was visiting Stanford came up with a technique for sampling small pieces of myocardial tissue using a bioptome (Figure 2) accessed through the right jugular vein (16). Together with the coinciding discovery of anti-thymocyte globulin (ATG) (17), this laid the foundation for histological assessment, diagnosis and treatment of early and sometimes even asymptomatic rejection. A year after publishing the new technique of obtaining biopsies, the team at Stanford reported successfully reversing 35 out of 37 biopsy-detected acute rejections by using augmented immunosuppression (18). The immunosuppressive protocol consisted of a combination of intravenous methylprednisolone, anti-thymocyte globulin (ATG), and the transcription inhibitor (chemotherapeutic drug) actinomycin D (19).



Figure 2: The author G. Gjesdal holding a cardiac bioptome designed by colleague Øyvind Reitan

Declining interest in heart transplants among peers

The available long-term use of the combination of azathioprine and prednisone was too ineffective to provide adequate immunosuppression. By adding ATG induction, the immunosuppressive effect was augmented, but the induction also caused increased rates of infections, which constrained outcomes. Interest in the procedure declined, and by the late 1970s, only a handful of surgical centers across the world were performing heart transplants. However, Shumway and his team at Stanford continued to slowly but steadily improve their results using their ever-growing experience and dedicated research. The hunt was on for improved immunosuppression.



Figure 3: U.S. surgeon Norman Shumway at Stanford (20). Reprint with permission of Elsevier©, license 5770070181477

The immune system at a glance

The innate and adaptive immune system

The human immune system has several pathways able to detect and respond to unfamiliar cells and tissue. The first protective response the donor's heart is subject to, is that of the innate immune system. Cells of the innate immune system express a wide range of pathogen-associated pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) able of being activated by a variety of markers of tissue injury named damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs); reactive oxygen species, heat shock proteins, heparin sulfate, and fibrinogen that are exposed from damaged tissue. The DAMPs in turn activates a cascade of proinflammatory cytokines, interleukins, tumor necrosis factor (TNF), among others, facilitating inflammation. Consequently, the surgically removed and partly ischemic transplanted donor heart meets the first line of the transplant recipient's response regardless of their tissue factor differences and similarities (21).

The second line of the immune defense consists of the adaptive immune system and its recognition of alloantigens. T-cells are vital to the immune response, and research has shown that T-cell-depleted mice can tolerate deliberately non-matching organ grafts without resulting organ rejection (22). Allorecognition occurs when antigenpresenting cells (APCs) bind to donor cell surface membrane-bound glycoproteins called major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules. The APC may be of donor origin (direct pathway) or recipient origin (indirect pathway). MHCs, called human leukocyte antigens (HLAs) in humans, are divided into two major clinically relevant classes: class I (A, B, C) and class II (DR, DQ, DP) (23).

The APC presents HLA to the T-cell, and, co-stimulated by the binding between glycosylated proteins CD80/86 (B7) on the APC and the CD28-receptor on the T-cell, a cascade is launched, starting with calcium-influx and ultimately leading to the activation, differentiation and proliferation of T-cells (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Initiation of the T-cell response through complement activation of antigen-presenting cells. Complement activation of APC which recognizes HLA from the donor cell and present it to the T-cell. By co-stimulation in the form of interaction between glycoproteins B7 on the APC and CD28 on the T-cell, T-cell activation and proliferation are initiated. Abbreviations: C3b = Complement factor 3b; CR1 = Complement receptor 1; G1/G2 = Cell cycle gap phase 1 and 2; M = Cell cycle mitosis phase; mTOR = Mammalian target of rapamycin; NFAT = Dephosphorylated nuclear factor of activated T-cells; S = Cell cycle synthesis

Allograft rejection

Donor allograft rejection may be classified as hyperacute, acute, or chronic (24). Hyperacute rejections occur within minutes or hours after graft reperfusion. They are caused by preformed recipient antibodies directed toward HLA or ABO-blood group antigens. The recipient antibodies attach to the endothelial cells of the donor organ, fixing complement and initiating a cascade resulting in cell damage, platelet aggregation, and vascular occlusion (25).

Acute cellular rejection (ACR) may occur soon after the transplant (<10 days) or at any later point, but the risk is greatest during the early postoperative period, and decreasing with time (26). ACR is driven by T-cell activation, causing inflammation and ultimately leading to myocytolysis and tissue necrosis if left untreated (27).

The presence of antibody-mediated rejections (AMR) was described as early as in the late 1980s (28), but was not formally recognized until the 21st century (29). The pathological mechanism of AMR is still not completely understood (30). The most dramatic form of AMR is hyperacute rejection, but AMR may, as ACR, develop at any point post-transplant, and the underlying mechanism is likely to be a contributing factor in patients with chronic rejection.

AMR is caused by HLA antibodies directed against the donor graft endothelium (donor-specific antibodies, DSA) (28). DSA binding results in complement activation by the classical pathway of the complement cascade (31). Antigenantibody complexes bind to complement C1q, and in a cascade of amplified steps, complement components form a membrane attack complex (MAC), leading to donor cell lysis. Active complement fragments C3a and C5a exert direct effects on endothelial cells and have chemotactic properties, recruiting both neutrophils and macrophages to the transplanted organ (32) (Figure 5).



Figure 5: HLA-DSA activation of the classical complement pathway cascade. Complement C1 is activated by the HLA-DSA complex, causing a cascade of amplification and resulting in vasodilatation, migration of inflammatory cells, and ultimately myocytolysis. Abbreviations: C = Complement factor; DSA = Donor specific antigen; HLA = Human leukocyte antigen

The mechanisms behind chronic allograft rejection have not been completely mapped. They are likely multifactorial. Histological and immunohistochemical signs of AMR with complement deposition may be found in over 50% of patients who develop clinical rejection more than seven years post-transplant (33). These signs of AMR have been linked to increased long-term mortality (34). Diffuse and repeated alloimmune attacks result in a clinical picture called cardiac allograft vasculopathy (CAV). The CAV process targets the epithelium, the arteries, the arterioles, as well as the capillaries. The resulting inflammation of the vessel intima layer leads to concentric narrowing of the complete vasculature, ultimately causing vessel obliteration, myocytolysis and development of fibrous scar tissue (35).

The 1980s - The Golden Era

The ISHLT and the multidisciplinary approach

In March 1981, the newly formed International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT) had its first meeting in San Francisco, California, USA. The organization sought to aid in research and education on heart and lung transplantation, and to collaborate on improving outcomes. At the time of foundation, the organization reported a 5-year mortality rate of about 50% (36). The ISHLT brought together surgeons, cardiologists, pulmonologists, immunologists and infection disease specialists, and was a driving force in developing the multidisciplinary team approach that has since become a common practice in medical decision making in general (12).

Since its formation, the ISHLT registry has gathered information on patient, donor, and transplant characteristics and post-transplant outcomes of over 100,000 heart transplants worldwide (37).

Ciclosporin shifting the mood

In 1972, ciclosporin, an inhibitor of T-cell calcineurin (38), was first isolated from *Ophiocordyceps sessilis*, a fungus collected by the Swiss biologist Hans Peter Frey working for *Sandoz* pharmaceuticals while vacationing at Hardangervidda in Norway (39). Ciclosporin was first used in a heart transplant patient in 1980 (40), and was approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for clinical use (41) three years later.

Although ciclosporin use was limited by a narrow therapeutical window, common side effects, and vulnerability to infections, its impact on survival rates was paradigm-changing (42) (Figure 6a). By 1985, Shumway's team at Stanford University reported a 1-year survival rate of 80% (43). From a low of 187 heart transplants a year in 1982 worldwide, the 1980s saw a steady increase in heart transplants, growing more than 20-fold, to 4,528 heart transplants, in 1990 (44) (Figure 6b).



Figure 6a: Post-transplant survival according to the immunosuppressive induction regimen (42). Reprint by permission of Professor Gerhard Opelz, University of Heidelberg, Germany. Abbreviations: CYA = Ciclosporin; AZA = Azathioprin; STE = Steroids.

Figure 6b: Annual worldwide heart transplants according to the ISHLT registry. Adapted from the 2015 ISHLT Adult Heart Transplantation Report (44).

Prophylactic anti-microbial and anti-viral therapy

Prior to 1980, two-thirds of solid organ transplant recipients developed at least one infectious complication during the first post-transplant year (45). While the change to ciclosporin-based immunosuppression resulted in fewer infections than the alternative combination of ATG induction followed by azathioprine and prednisone, bacterial, fungal, and viral infections still caused considerable limitations to both post-operative and long-term survival. During the early 1980s, regimens of standardized prophylactic antibiotic treatment were developed at most transplant centers, primarily based on broad-spectrum antimicrobials such as a cephalosporin (46) in combination with trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole to counteract pneumocystis carinii infection (47).

However, while antibacterial treatment options were improving, cytomegalovirus (CMV) infections were an ongoing problem. Some transplant centers reported up to a 100% CMV infection rate (48). Prophylactic acyclovir treatment was attempted but showed no effect (49). In the late 1980s, ganciclovir, the first treatment with proven effect toward CMV, was finally approved by the FDA and was soon incorporated as both prophylactic and infection treatment (50).

Development of the bicaval operating technique

The original biatrial surgical technique used by Barnard during the first heart transplant remained essentially unchanged during the 1970s and 1980s. In 1974, Barnard and his colleague Losman experimented with heterotopic transplantation, in which the donor's heart was transplanted with the recipient's heart still in place

(51). In its original form, the procedure resulted in the donor heart serving, by principle, as a left ventricular assist. Barnard later modified the technique to include biventricular support (52, 53), but soon abandoned the modification due to inferior survival rates (12).

In 1989, Yacoub and Banner published a new surgical technique in which the right atrium was explanted together with the rest of the recipient's heart, and anastomoses were constructed between the inferior and superior vena cava (54) (Figure 7). While this technique was more time-consuming than the previous techniques, and hence resulted in greater donor graft ischemic times, it has since been associated with lower right-sided filling pressures, a decreased burden of atrial arrhythmias, and improved survival rates (55).



Figure 7: Bicaval operating technique developed by Yacoub and Manner 1989 (54). Reprint with permission of Elsevier©, license 5770040868055.

The dawn of heart transplantation in Sweden

In Sweden, the introduction of heart transplant surgery was delayed compared to many other countries, as the definition of brain death was not integrated into Swedish law until 1988. As a result, the first Swede who underwent heart transplantation in 1980, had the procedure performed at Stanford. When the first heart transplant on Swedish soil was performed at Sahlgrenska University Hospital in 1984, the donor heart was collected and flown in from Germany. During the following years, a handful of heart transplants were performed at both Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Gothenburg and Karolinska Institute in Stockholm, all using non-domestic hearts. Also during the mid-1980s, several Swedish patients were referred to and were operated on at Harefield Hospital in England, where Swedish surgeons were trained while awaiting permission to use domestic organs. After the concept of brain death was formalized in Swedish legislation, Sahlgrenska, Karolinska, and Lund University hospitals soon launched local heart transplant programs (56).

The 1990s - Standardized follow-up and improved survival rates

Margaret Billingham and the standardization of rejection grading

In 1990, the ISHLT published a grading scale for cellular rejection (57). The scale was based on the work of the Stanford pathologist Margaret Billingham (18, 58), and soon became the gold standard for assessing graft rejection.

The new grading system was a helpful aid in communication between various transplant centers regarding research and standardization of rejection treatment. However, inconsistencies were soon noticed in interpreting biopsy findings and clinical outcomes between centers. To combat these inconsistencies, and in view of the emerging understanding of changes caused by AMR, a special ISHLT committee was formed. The committee published a revision of the original grading scale in 2004 (59) (Table 2).

1990 ISHLT grading of rejection		2004 ISHLT grading of rejection	
0	No ACR	0R	No ACR
1A	Focal, mild ACR		
1B	Diffuse, mild ACR	1R	Mild, low-grade ACR
2	Focal, moderate ACR		
3A	Multifocal, moderate ACR	2R	Moderate, intermediate ACR
3B	Diffuse, moderate ACR	3R Severe, high-grade ACR	Severe, high-grade ACR
4	Severe ACR	эк	Severe, high-grade ACK
		AMR0	No histologic or immunopathologic features of AMR
		AMR1	Histologic features of AMR and/or immunofluorescence staining for AMR

Table 2: 1990 vs 2004 ISHLT grading of rejection (57, 59)

Pravastatin and improved 1-year outcomes

During the early 1990s, attention to cholesterol's effect on coronary arteriosclerosis was peaking (60-62), and awareness of CAV was rising. Hypercholesterolaemia, which had been associated with CAV (63), was common in heart transplant recipients. In addition, in animal models, statins had been shown to reduce coronary vasculopathy by a mechanism that seemed independent of the cholesterol-lowering effect (64). As other available statins were fat soluble, and therefore feared to increase the risk of rhabdomyolysis caused by interaction with ciclosporin, Jon Kobashigawa and his colleagues chose to use pravastatin when designing an openlabel single-center trial of 100 heart-transplanted patients randomized to pravastatin or no statin treatment in addition to standard post-transplant treatment. The study, published in the New England Journal of Medicine (NEJM) in 1995, showed that the pravastatin group had lower cholesterol levels, a reduced incidence of rejections accompanied by hemodynamic compromise, a lower incidence of coronary vasculopathy, and improved survival rates one-year post-transplant (65).

Antimetabolites - Mycophenolic acid replaces azathioprine

Mycophenolic acid (MPA), a purine antagonist that inhibits inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase, was first discovered by the Italian scientist Bartolomeo Gosio towards in late 19th century. Gosio isolated a species of fungus from spoiled corn and named it *Penicillium glaucum*. In 1893, Gosio found that the fungus had antibacterial properties against the anthrax bacterium, making it the first antibiotic to be isolated in its pure form. MPA has since been proven to have antiviral, antifungal, as well as antitumorous effects (66).

The use of MPA and its modified ester derivative mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) was first approved by the FDA for use in kidney transplant recipients in 1995 (67). MMF selectively targets proliferating T- and B-lymphocytes, as they are solely dependent on the de novo pathway of purine synthesis (12). In 1998, a large doubleblind multicenter randomized trial of MMF as it compared to azathioprine in addition to cyclosporine and corticosteroids showed that MMF reduced both the number of rejections and the 1-year post-transplant mortality in heart transplanted patients (68). Later in 1998, MMF was approved by the FDA for clinical use in heart transplantation (67).

The challenge of improved survival

By the turn of the 21st century, long-term post-heart transplant survival rates greatly improved. The 10-year survival was now around 45-50% (69, 70). With improved long-term survival, the side effects related to long-term use of immunosuppression gained greater focus. In 1999, Fraund and her colleagues published their findings

on long-term outcomes among heart-transplanted patients at the time, noting that moderate renal impairment was common. Chronic rejection in the form of cardiac allograft vasculopathy ultimately caused death in up to 39% of recipients, and infection and malignancy was the death cause in 11% of patients, respectively (70).

The millennium and beyond – Focus on long-term constraints

The CNI-switch – Tacrolimus taking over

Tacrolimus, a calcineurin inhibitor (CNI) like ciclosporin (Figure 8), was first described in the late 1980s (71) but was first approved for routine use in solid organ transplants in the mid-2000s (72). Early trials of tacrolimus were conducted at the Presbyterian University Hospital in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, USA in the early 1990s and showed promising results in reducing the number of rejections (73). In addition, tacrolimus was not associated with such common side effects of ciclosporin as hirsutism, gingivitis, and facial bone growth (74).



Figure 8: Overview of immunosuppressant cellular mechanism of action

The results of the first randomized trial of tacrolimus were published in 1996. Of the 243 patients randomized to tacrolimus or ciclosporin-based immunosuppression, freedom of rejection was more common in the tacrolimus group. Additionally, 18 patients in the ciclosporin group who suffered from refractory rejection improved after switching to tacrolimus (75). The trial was unfortunately marred by inconsistent use of induction therapy (72).

While subsequent trials demonstrated no difference in short vs. long-term survival, treatment with tacrolimus was associated with decreased rates of rejection (76, 77), hypertension (76-80), hypertriglyceridemia (76, 77, 79, 80), and improved renal function (80, 81). One study, however, indicated an association between tacrolimus and an increased burden of new-onset diabetes mellitus (77).

As cellular rejection instances decreased and long-term survival increased, focus among researchers shifted from rejection to the many side effects of immunosuppression. Seeking to minimize immunosuppression, the 2011 TICTAC trial randomized 150 clinically stable, newly transplanted patients without biopsy-proven AMR to either single-agent treatment with tacrolimus or a combination of tacrolimus and MMF. Even though prednisone was tapered off within 8 weeks post-transplant in all patients, no difference in the primary endpoints of rejection, allograft vasculopathy, or 3-year survival was observed (82).

Antibody-mediated rejection gaining attention

At around the same time, focus on AMR was growing. The 2004 ISHLT consensus report on rejection included diagnostic criteria (59), but inconsistencies in interpretation and reporting were widespread and created frustration. At the end of the 20th century, more than half the transplant centers were basing their AMR diagnosis solely on cardiac dysfunction in the absence of cellular infiltrates (83). Inconsistencies were likely partly due to the absence of standardized treatment (84).

In 2010, the ISHLT held a consensus conference on antibody-mediated rejection (83). An updated definition of the criteria (85) was formulated (Table 3). Initially, routine monitoring of DSA to assist in the diagnosis was only recommended for the first post-transplant year, but after the 2018 ISHLT update on managing antibodies, annual monitoring of DSA has been recommended (86). To date though, there is no consensus on exactly how to best treat AMR.

Grade	Definition	Substrate
pAMR 0	Negative for pathologic AMR	Histologic and immunopathologic studies are both negative.
pAMR 1 (H+)	Histopathologic AMR alone	Histologic findings are present and immunopathologic findings are negative.
pAMR 1 (I+)	Immunopathologic AMR alone	Histologic findings are negative and immunopathologic findings are positive.
pAMR 2	Pathologic AMR	Histologic and immunopathologic findings are both present.
pAMR 3	Severe pathologic AMR	Interstitial hemorrhage, capillary fragmentation, mixed inflammatory infiltrates, endothelial cell pyknosis, and/or karyorrhexis, and marked edema and immunopathologic findings are present.

Table 3: 2013 ISHLT grading of antibody-mediated rejection (AMR) (85)

CAV and the mTOR-inhibitors

Previous AMR has been associated with an increased risk of CAV development (87), and CAV has been shown to be a main cause of long-term mortality in heart transplant recipients (44, 88). Inhibitors of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) have been hypothesized to reduce the onset and progression of CAV by inhibiting fibroblast and smooth muscle cell proliferation. Compared to the alternatives, mTOR inhibitors have also been thought to reduce the development of renal impairment, rates of CMV infection, and malignancy (89).

In 2003, Howard Eisen and his colleagues reported that the combination of the mTOR inhibitor everolimus, was superior to azathioprine when combined with a combination of ciclosporin and prednisone, in reducing the severity and incidence of CAV (90). Soon, several studies showed similar results for both everolimus (91-93) and the closely related drug sirolimus (94). The positive trend remained even when withdrawing the CNI instead of the antimetabolite (95-99).

Today, mTOR inhibitors are generally believed to be superior to CNI and antimetabolites regarding the development of CAV and renal impairment (100).

Even with the supposed reduction in CAV development, a recent large retrospective review of the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) database of patients treated with mTOR inhibitors between 2010 and 2018 showed no long-term effects regarding survival, rates of infection, malignancy, or renal transplantation (89). Several studies have also pointed to an increased risk of non-fatal cellular rejection with regimens primarily based on mTOR-inhibition (92, 99, 101). This risk may be reduced by combining mTOR-inhibition with a low dose of CNI (102).

Induction or no induction, that is the question

Since the beginning of heart transplantation, hyperacute and early graft rejections have been feared. To minimize the risk of rejection and to spare initial renal damage caused by the combination of surgery-related issues and CNI toxicity, several induction protocols have been developed over the years. Specific antibody preparations may be used alone or in combination with high-dose corticosteroids.

Anti-thymocyte globulin has been widely used since the first organ transplantations in the 1960s. By the late 1980s, induction with OKT-3[®], an antibody directed against CD3, became an alternative. While the first randomized trial of OKT-3[®]showed fewer rejection episodes in early post-operative settings, no difference could be seen regarding the number of rejections at 6 months (103). At the same time, an increased risk of uncontrollable cytokine release associated with the treatment dampened the enthusiasm toward the late 1990s (104).

During the same time, two new monoclonal antibodies directed against the interleukin 2 (IL-2) receptor; daclizumab and basiliximab, showed promising results. In two trials of using daclizumab compared to no induction, the rate of early rejections was decreased (105, 106). However, in one of these two studies, an increased risk of death was observed among patients who had received daclizumab and were later treated for acute rejection. Even though, there was no difference in the total mortality between the groups. In another study, basiliximab was shown to decrease the risk of early renal failure by delaying CNI introduction, without increasing the risk of rejection or infection (107). Despite these discrepancies, the use of IL-2 antibody induction steadily increased through the 2000s (108).

To date, no single induction therapy has improved survival in any randomized trial (109). However, induction therapy with ATG or IL-2 receptor antagonists continues to be used in approximately half of transplant centers. A 2013 Cochrane review concluded that there were no significant differences in mortality, infection, CMV infection, post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorder, cancer, adverse events, chronic allograft vasculopathy, renal function, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, or hyperlipidemia between the induction strategies (110). An extensive review of data from the ISHLT register covering a 13-year timespan between 2000 and 2013 also showed no difference in survival of patients who received no induction, as compared to patients treated with ATG or basiliximab., The use of ATG was also associated with increased malignancy-related mortality in patients as compared to patients who received no induction, even though the total mortality rate was the same for these two groups (111). However, the results of a 2021 retrospective review conflicted with the earlier findings, discovering that of almost 29,000 transplant recipients from the UNOS database who received transplants in the US between 2010 and 2020, patients who received induction therapy had lower mortality and fewer rejections. According to this study, induction using ATG seemed to be associated with the lowest risk (108). There is no need to say; that randomized trials are warranted.

Human leukocyte antigen: optimizing the donor-recipient match

In the late 1980s, there were first reports that a mismatch between donor and recipient HLA was associated with an increased risk of early allograft rejection (112-115). In 1994, Gerhard Opelz and colleagues published a retrospective report of more than 8,000 heart transplants, showing that heart transplant recipients with one or less HLA (A, B, or DR) mismatch had significantly better 3-year survival than those who had two or more HLA discrepancies (116). Since then, HLA matching has become routine in transplants of organs such as bone marrow and kidney. However, with thoracic organ transplants, many transplant centers perform routine HLA matching only in previously highly immunized transplant recipients (117).

There is currently some conflicting evidence regarding the association between HLA matching and long-term survival of transplant recipients. A retrospective report published in 2015 of over 25,000 patients in the ISHLT registry who received transplants between 1988 and 2011 found no difference in survival between HLA-matched and HLA-mismatched patients as a whole (118), while another large retrospective report published in 2019 showed that mismatch between HLA-DR/DQ specifically caused higher rates of late graft loss (119). A recent study from 2014, which analyzed UNOS data collected between 2005 and 2021, reported that there was no association between HLA mismatch and transplant recipient survival, although HLA-mismatched patients had a greater incidence of reported rejections. Mismatch of the HLA-DR locus was associated with a greater risk of CAV development (117). More studies are needed to gain further insight into long-term effects in the setting of modern immunosuppression and increased long-term survival.

Ticking the boxes: organ preservation in modern day

When Christiaan Barnard performed the first heart transplant in 1967, the ventilator keeping the donor Denise Darvall alive was disconnected, and the team waited until there had been no electrocardiographic activity for 5 minutes before performing the heart explant. Louis Washkansky was prepared for surgery and standing by in the adjacent operating room in order to minimize the length of time of donor heart ischemia (4).

During the 1970s, the definition of death by brain death (DBD) (120) gained attention and debate. During the early 1980s, DBD transplantation became routine at most transplant centers, thus further reducing ischemic times. Together with the introduction of ciclosporin, transplantation of hearts from DBD donors contributed to revitalization of the heart transplantation procedure (121).

Ever since the first heart transplants were performed, the method of preserving harvested hearts has remained largely unchanged. The harvested heart is cannulated,

blood is removed from by infusion of a preservation fluid, then the heart is explanted and chilled to approximately 4°C.

As donors are in short supply, and the focus on the effects of optimal donor-recipient matching is growing, a variety of research is being done on optimizing organ preservation and extending ischemic time without further damage to the graft. Results from ongoing randomized studies on several different heart preservation box solutions showing encouraging results were presented (122-127) at the annual meeting of the ISHLT in April 2024. Also, donations of organs from donors declared dead by circulatory death are gaining greater focus, with the hope of further expanding the potential donor pool (128).

The future of rejection surveillance

Since the beginning of heart transplantation, pathologic assessment of endomyocardial biopsies has been considered the gold standard for diagnosing rejection. However, concordance among pathologists on biopsy interpretation is still reported to be as low as 70% (129).

Fragments of cell-free DNA originating from cancer cells were first described in peripheral blood in 1948 (130). Small fragments of DNA are released into the bloodstream during cell injury and may be identified in the plasma by PCR amplification. In 1998, donor-derived cell-free DNA (dd-cfDNA) was first suggested as a marker of cell injury in solid organ transplant recipients by a team from Hong Kong that investigated dd-cfDNA presence in kidney or liver transplant recipients (131).

A few years later, gene expression profiling (GEP) of mononuclear cells in peripheral blood was suggested as an alternative method of monitoring for rejection. The GEP method uses PCR to identify gene expression in peripheral leukocytes known to be activated during rejection. The GEP method has been shown to have an excellent negative predictive value in ruling out ACR in the 2006 CARGO trial (132), the 2010 IMAGE-trial (133), and the 2016 CARGO II-trial (134) of heart transplant recipients who were more than 2 months post-transplant.

In contrast to GEP, rising dd-cfDNA levels have not only been shown to rise during episodes of ACR (135), but have also been associated with AMR (136). Rising dd-cfDNA levels have furthermore been correlated with mortality (137).

Several high-volume US heart transplant centers currently use the combined negative predictive value of GEP and dd-cfDNA technique as part of their standard surveillance program to monitor for heart transplant rejection, thus minimizing the need for invasive endomyocardial biopsies (138).

In addition to these laboratory methods of post-transplant surveillance, there is currently growing interest in cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) imaging as a tool
to diagnose rejection. The presence of myocardial fibrosis detected by late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) has been associated with decreased long-term survival (139, 140), and several studies have shown that modern CMR techniques using combinations of T1 and T2 imaging, estimation of extracellular volume (ECV) and LGE have excellent sensitivity and specificity for identifying acute rejections (141-143).

The high cost and low availability of GEP, dd-cfDNA, and CMR limit their use in some transplant centers. In the future, however, their use will likely grow, and routine biopsies will likely become much less frequent.

So what about morbidity?

In the 57 years that have passed since the first heart transplantation, post-transplant survival has improved (1) (Figure 9) and patient-reported quality of life has been shown to be better after than before transplantation (2). Still, a transplanted heart is not the same as a healthy original heart, and the life of a heart transplant recipient has many limitations. Psychiatric comorbidities such as post-traumatic stress disorder and major depression are common in heart-transplant recipients (144, 145), and somatic co-morbidities, as well as mortality, are significantly higher than in the general population (146). Advanced heart failure with peak oxygen consumption (peakVO₂) below 12 ml/(kg*min) is considered to be the main criterion for listing a patient as a candidate for heart transplantation (147). However, while a healthy 50-year-old has a peakVO₂ of around 40 ml/(kg*min) (148), stable and well-functioning heart transplant recipients younger than 40 years of age have peakVO₂ as low as 23.3 ml/(kg*min) (149).

Working with the follow-up of heart transplant recipients, one sees the immense effect of transplantation on mortality and morbidity, but also the struggles that many patients go through. The background of this thesis was the curiosity awakened by these experiences. Are outcomes after heart transplantation in Sweden adjacent to that of other countries? To what extent does the transplant solve the accompanying psychiatric challenges? And how do the transplanted heart pumping mechanics differ from that of a normal one? Could the emerging technique of cardiac magnetic resonance imaging help us understand the physiological restraints of transplanted hearts?



Figure 9: 5-Year Survival of heart transplant recipients in Sweden 1988-2018 and timing of the most important medical treatments. 5-year survival (%) according to the transplant year, with average of the year +/- 4 years to even out yearly variations. Mortality figures according to the Scandiatransplant registry (unpublished data).

Aims

The general aim of this thesis was to gain insight into the limitations facing heart transplant recipients in Sweden, with a broad overview of survival, co-morbidity, and the mechanistic properties of the transplanted heart's that limit the patients in their everyday lives. The focus was on retrospective data gathered from Swedish national registries along with patient record data from the routine post-transplant surveillance program at Skåne University Hospital.

The specific aims of the papers were:

Paper I

To investigate whether post-heart transplant survival rates in Sweden in the modern day were comparable to such survival rates in other countries, and whether there was a significant change in pre- and/or post-transplant survival after the national centralization of heart transplant surgery to Gothenburg and Lund, Sweden in 2010.

Paper II

To investigate and validate registered causes of death in heart transplant recipients who had undergone the transplant surgery and received their follow-up in Lund, Sweden since 1988, and to assess the heart transplant recipients' loss of life-years compared to the general population.

Paper III

To investigate whether heart transplant recipients in Sweden had a greater incidence of depression and anxiety diagnoses than the general population. To examine if there was greater use of anti-depressants and anti-anxiety medication within the heart transplant recipient group, and if there was any correlation between the heart transplant recipients' registered psychiatric diagnoses and mortality.

Paper IV

To describe the longitudinal heart function and the radial and longitudinal pumping mechanics in heart transplant recipients and to assess whether the longitudinal ventricular function was associated with cardiac output at rest or with maximal exercise capacity as measured by cardiopulmonary exercise testing.

Paper V

To investigate whether microvascular function as measured by quantitative cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) perfusion mapping in heart transplanted patients differed from healthy non-transplanted controls and whether it was related to exercise capacity.

Present investigations

Paper I

Methods

Study sample

Data on patients listed as candidates for heart transplantation in Sweden between January 1, 2001, and December 31, 2020, data on donor organ utilization, donor characteristics, and post-transplant treatment, as well as date and cause of death were collected from the following databases: Scandiatransplant (150), the Swedish thoracic transplant (STRAX) (151), the Swedish web-system for enhancement and development of evidence-based care in heart disease evaluated according to recommended therapies (SWEDEHEART) (152), and the Swedish national cause of death registry (153).

Patients native to Sweden aged ≥ 18 years at the time of heart transplant were included in the post-transplant survival analysis. Patients with graft dysfunction who underwent re-transplantation were excluded. In the analysis of donor utilization rates, all transplants including pediatric transplants and retransplants were included, as there was no available method to ascertain whether donated organs were allocated to children or adults.

Variations in waiting times and mortality associated with the limited number of patients listed as candidates and undergoing transplant surgery in Sweden, complicate the interpretation of annual data. To minimize these variations, the analyses were performed comparing two 10-year periods: before and after the centralization of 2011. Period 1 (January 1, 2001 to December 31, 2010) was compared to Period 2 (January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2020).

Statistical analysis

Differences in baseline characteristics and complications were assessed using the Wilcoxon rank-sum test for skewed variables and a two-sample t-test for normally distributed variables.

Pearson's chi-square test was used to compare categorical data between groups.

The Wilcoxon rank-sum test was used to compare waiting times between the two 10-year periods.

Using the Fine and Gray method, cumulative incidence curves were plotted. Competing risk regressions were calculated for mortality, transplantation, and delisting from the transplantation waiting list.

Post-transplant survival rates were plotted using the Kaplan–Meier method, and survival between the groups was compared using the log-rank test.

A Cox proportional hazard regression model was utilized to assess differences in mortality rates. Mortality on the waiting list was adjusted for age, sex, height, body weight, blood group, and sensitization. Post-operative mortality was adjusted for diagnosis, donor diabetes, kidney function (glomerular filtration rate [GFR]), recipient and donor age and sex, ischemia time, and pre-transplant treatment with a left ventricular assist device (LVAD). Factors previously associated with post-transplant first-year survival (1). Donor dialysis, mechanical ventilation, and total bilirubin values were excluded from the analysis because of a considerable number of missing values. Missing values for GFR and ischemic time were imputed with the mean, and missing diagnoses were imputed with the mode.

Cox proportional hazard models were checked for proportionality using Schoenfeld residuals, log-log plots for nominal data, and a zero slope test. Similarly, for the Fine and Gray methods, factors were evaluated visually for proportionality with Schoenfeld residuals and a time interaction test.

Main findings

Heart transplants in Sweden (2001-2020)

- During the 20-year period covered in our study, 954 adults were included on waiting lists for heart transplantation. 51 of the 954 patients died prior to receiving a transplant, and 55 were delisted without a transplant.
- 954 heart transplantations were performed. 24 of these patients underwent re-transplantation. Of the remaining 930 patients, 815 were adults (≥18 years).
- The numbers of heart transplants per year and per hospital are illustrated in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Heart transplants in Sweden 2001-2020

Active waiting time and waiting list mortality

- The median active waiting time was slightly higher (54 vs 71 days) in the second 10-year era (2011-2020).
- The number of heart transplantation procedures increased by more than 50%.
- The organ utilization rate rose (31% vs 35%).
- Despite longer waiting times, the mortality of individuals on the transplant waiting list was lower (8.3% vs 3.2%).

Post-operative mortality

- The 30-day survival rate rose from 90.8% to 97.8%.
- The 1-year survival rate rose from 87.9% to 94.6% (Figure 11a).
- For transplant recipients who survived the first 3 months, there was no difference in 1-year, 5-year, or 10-year survival rates (Figure 11b-d).
- Adjusted for diagnoses of heart failure, kidney function, donor and recipient sex and age, ischemic time, immunization, pre-transplant long-term LVAD, and short-term extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO), a 63% risk reduction in 1-year mortality was observed.
- Apart from Sahlgrenska, for which the mortality was lower in the second era, no significant difference was observed when analyzing mortality by the referring hospital.



Figure 11: Post-transplant survival comparison for the two 10-year periods

11a (top left): Post-transplant 1-year survival 2001-2010 vs. 2011-2020.

11b (top right): Post-transplant 1-year survival conditional to 3-month survival 2001-2010 vs. 2011-2020.
11c: (bottom left) Post-transplant 5-year survival conditional to 3-month survival 2001-2010 vs. 2011-2020
11d: (bottom right) Post-transplant 10-year survival conditional to 3-month survival 2001-2010 vs. 2011-2020.

Paper II

Methods

Patients who underwent heart transplantation between 1988 and 2019 and received their clinical follow-up in Lund, Sweden, were included in the study. Subjects with unavailable medical records were excluded from the analysis (Figure 12).

Two separate reviewers, authors Lundgren and Gjesdal, independently investigated the hospital records of identified deceased patients. The cause of death was determined according to the CLASS cause of death classification, a classification model specific to transplant recipients developed by a group of Danish colleagues in 2018 (154).



Figure 12: Patient selection for Paper II

Agreement between reviewers was defined as the same death cause (e.g. infection) including sub-group (e.g., bacterial). In the cases where the assessed death cause differed, a board consisting of the two reviewers and a consultant heart failure cardiologist (author Braun) repeated the medical record review and agreed on an adjudicated death cause.

The validated death cause was compared to the registered cause of death extracted from the Scandiatransplant registry. For the classification of death causes, the Scandiatransplant registry uses the ISHLT definition. To overcome this, the death causes from the CLASS system were translated into analogous death causes in the ISHLT classification. The two were further combined to form the new suggested pathophysiologically relevant aggregated death cause (Table 4).

The aggregated cause of death was used to analyze life-years lost. The average life expectancy in Sweden for the period 1988–2019 for male and female Swedish residents aged 0–73 was extracted from the Statistics Sweden database (155). To calculate life-years lost, the life span of transplant recipients was compared to the average life expectancy of the Swedish population, matched by age and sex at year of transplant. The length of time the post-transplant patients survived was subtracted from the expected average lifespan, and the median loss of life-years was calculated overall, per grouped causes of death.

Main findings

Validation of cause of death and the CLASS methodology

- Using the CLASS methodology, we observed moderate (56%) interreviewer agreement.
- The validated CLASS death cause had moderate agreement (62%) with the registered ISHLT death cause.
- Combining similar/related diagnoses into aggregated groups according to Table 4, inter-reviewer agreement was increased to substantial (67%).
- The aggregated groups, analyzed separately for each reviewer, had a substantial to almost perfect agreement rate (79% and 85%) with the registered ISHLT death cause.
- The agreement between the validated and grouped CLASS codes and the grouped ISHLT codes remained moderate (67%).

Life expectancy in transplant recipients compared to the matched general population

- Compared to the age and gender-matched Swedish population, heart transplant recipients lost 20 life-years.
- Death caused by acute graft rejection resulted in the most life-years lost.
- Although patients who died of primary graft failure, chronic graft rejection, malignancy, infection, and cerebrovascular events had similar post-transplant survival, the resulting life-years lost compared to the general population was less than in those who died from acute graft rejection, as they were transplanted at an older age.

Validated CLASS cause of death	Grouped cause of death	Registred ISHLT cause of death
1.1 Primary (non-function) graft failure	Primary graft failure	2000 Graft Failure: Primary Failure
		2701 Intraoperative (not hemorrhage)
2.1 Acute graft failure	Acute graft rejection	2001 Graft Failure: Rejection, Hyperacute
		2002 Graft Failure: Rejection, Acute
1.2 Non-specific graft failure	Chronic graft rejection	2003 Graft Failure: Rejection, Chronic
		2201 Cardiovascular: Cardiac Arrest
		2203 Cardiovascular: Ventricular Failure
2.2 Chronic graft failure		2299 Cardiovascular: Other
4.1 Bacterial infection	Infection	2100 Infection: Bacterial, Septicemia
4.2 Fungal infection		2101 Infection: Bacterial, Pneumonia
4.3 Viral infection		2109 Infection: Bacterial, Other
4.7 Unknown infectious aetiology		2119 Infection: Viral, Other
5.2 Ruptured vascular aneurysm	Major bleeding	2401 Cerebrovascular: Hemorrhage (non-stroke)
		2500 Hemorrhage: Gastrointestinal
		2599 Hemorrhage: Other
6.1 De-novo malignancy	_ Malignancy	2600 Malignancy: Metastatic
		2601 Malignancy: Primary
		2602 Malignancy: Post-Transplant Lymphoproliferative Disorder
6.2 Relapse of malignancy		2604 Malignancy: Skin
		2603 Malignancy: Lymphoma
		2699 Malignancy: Other
7.2 Cardiac or vascular failure or dysfunction	Myocardial infarction	2200 Cardiovascular: Myocardial Infarction
	Cerebrovascular accident	2400 Cerebrovascular: Stroke
		2402 Cerebrovascular: Brain Anoxia
	Other causes	2206 Cardiovascular: Rhythm Disorder
7.3 Pulmonary failure or dysfunction		2208 Cardiovascular: Aortic Aneurysm
7.6 GI-tract failure or dysfunction		2708 Amyloidosis
7.7 Pancreas failure or dysfunction		2802 Non-Compliance
9.2 Withdrawal of active treatment		2803 Trauma
10 Accidental death		2998 Other
12 Other causes		2303 Pulmonary: Pulmonary Embolism
14 Unknown cause		
7.8 Multi-organ failure	Multi-organ failure	2705 Multiple Organ Failure

Table 4: Grouping of validated and registered causes of death

Paper III

Methods

Study sample

The Swedish National Patient Registry (156) was used to identify all individuals with a registered diagnosis of heart transplantation.

Data on marital status, geographical region of residence, date of immigration or emigration, educational level, family income, date and cause of death, hospital diagnoses, and dates of hospital admissions (1964-2018), primary care diagnoses, and prescribed medication were gathered from the following databases: The Total Population Registry (157), the Swedish National Patient Registry (156), Statistics Sweden (the Swedish Government-owned statistics bureau) (158), the National Prescribed Drug Register (159), and an almost complete data-set of primary care diagnoses was gathered from 20 of the 21 Swedish regions (160). All linkages were performed using the national 10-digit civic registration number, which was later replaced by serial numbers to ensure anonymity.

Psychiatric comorbidity was assessed by ICD-10 diagnoses for depression (F32 and F33), anxiety, and stress-related disorders including anxiety (F41), phobias (F40), obsessive-compulsive disorders (F42), reaction to severe stress, and adjustment disorders (F43), sleep disorders (G47.0, G47.2, G47.8, G47.9), alcohol abuse disorders (F10, K70) and drug abuse disorders (F11-F19).

Records regarding prescriptions for antidepressant drugs, drugs to facilitate alcohol and opioid addiction, and potentially addictive drugs were extracted from the Swedish National Prescribed Drug Register (26).

Statistical Analysis

Differences in baseline characteristics between the two groups of heart transplant recipients – those with and those without psychiatric diseases at time of transplantation – were examined using Fisher's exact test for categorical variables and Student's t-test for continuous variables.

Logistic regression analyses were performed regarding psychiatric diagnoses, use of antidepressants, anxiety, and sleep medication in the transplant cohort compared to the control group to adjust for the potential confounding factors of age, sex, family income, educational level, immigration status, marital status, and urban vs. rural residence. These factors have been previously associated with the risk of newonset depression and suicide in heart failure patients in Sweden (4). A logistic regression model of differences in the use of benzodiazepines and antidepressant medication was performed to examine the association with chosen covariates and known concomitant disease for the heart transplant recipients.

A Cox regression analysis was performed to test whether the length of survival from the time of discharge after transplant surgery was different between the two groups of patients (those with and those without psychiatric disorders). Survival estimates were calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method.

To investigate whether psychiatric diagnoses and prescriptions for psychiatric issues were more frequent before or after the heart transplant, separate analyses were performed comparing heart transplant recipients to the matched general population during 3-year periods immediately preceding and immediately following heart transplant surgery.

Main findings

Survival of the cohort

- 907 heart transplant recipients were identified and compared 1:5 to age and sex-matched controls.
- The mean age was 45 years. 28% were female.
- The mean follow-up time was 16.8 ± 5.8 years.
- We observed a small, non-significant trend toward higher survival for patients with the investigated psychiatric diagnoses compared to patients without a psychiatric diagnosis (HR 0.73, p=0.05) (Figure 13).



Figure 13: Survival of patients with and without psychiatric comorbidity

Depression, anxiety, stress disorders and substance abuse

- 31.4% of heart transplant recipients were diagnosed with depression or anxiety-related disease, as compared to 25.2% of individuals in the control group.
- Pre-transplant, first-time depression was more common in the transplant recipients than in the control group. Recurrent depression was more common post-transplant.
- There was no difference in identified diagnoses of phobic disease, obsessive-compulsive disorders, or post-traumatic stress disorders.

Antidepressants, anxiety, and sleep medication

- Pre-transplant, patients had a higher prescription rate of anti-depressive, anti-anxiety, and sleep medication.
- Even though both recurrent depression and anxiety were more frequent post-transplant, prescriptions of antidepressants were not equally increased.

Paper IV-V

Methods

Study samples

Patients who underwent CMR and a cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET) as part of their routine post-transplant surveillance program at the heart transplant unit at Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden, were retrospectively included in the analyses. Control investigations from age- and sex-matched healthy volunteers were collected from a sample of previously available data.

Data collection

Data on time from transplant, prior or current allograft rejection, presence of macroscopic CAV, immunosuppressive medication, other relevant daily medication, blood pressure, and the presence or absence of right bundle branch block at time of CMR were collected from the patient's medical journal.

Cardiac magnetic resonance acquisition

Cardiac MR was performed using Siemens Magnetom Aera 1.5T and Siemens Magnetom Sola 1.5T scanners (Siemens Healthcare GmbH, Erlangen, Germany). Localizers and scout images were acquired to define the left ventricular short-axis and long-axis planes (2-, 3- and 4-chamber views).

T2-prepared steady-state free precision short-axis images covering the left ventricle were acquired. Perfusion maps were obtained during adenosine stress and at rest (161). Stress images were acquired after 3 minutes of intravenous adenosine infusion. Resting images were acquired 10 minutes after the adenosine infusion. Quantitative perfusion and myocardial perfusion maps were generated using Gadgetron inline perfusion mapping software (162).

Late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) images were acquired in the short-axis view covering the entire left ventricle and in the three standard long-axis views 10-15 minutes after an intravenous administration of 0.05 mmol/kg of contrast agent. LGE images were used to assess the presence of myocardial infarction and fibrosis.

All image analyses were performed using Segment v3.3 software (https://medviso.com/segment/) (163).

Calculation of left ventricular atrioventricular plane displacement

Calculation of left ventricular atrioventricular plane displacement (LVAVPD) was performed using methodology previously described by Carlsson and his colleagues (164, 165), and validated by Seemann et al. (166). The atrioventricular plane was

defined by manually marking the inferoseptal and anterolateral mitral annular hinge in the 4-chamber view, the anterior and inferior points in the 2-chamber view, and the inferolateral and anteroseptal points in the 3-chamber view. If needed, tracking was manually adjusted in end-diastole (ED) and end-systole (ES). Left ventricular AVPD was calculated as the mean shortening distance in millimeters between six markings indicating the atrioventricular plane and the apex (Figure 14a).

Calculation of regional contribution to stroke volume

Short-axis images were delineated in accordance with the Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance Board of Trustees Task Force protocol to obtain left ventricular mass, volume, stroke volume, and ejection fraction. Trabeculations and papillary muscles were included in the intracavitary volume (167).

Longitudinal contribution to stroke volume as well as radial contribution, divided into septal and lateral contribution, were calculated using methodology previously described (164, 168). Longitudinal contribution to stroke volume was determined by multiplying the LVAVPD with the largest epicardial short-axis area of the left ventricle. This measurement has been shown to better correspond with the volume generated by longitudinal movement than the area of the mitral valve orifice (165). Septal contribution to stroke volume was calculated from the difference between the ED and ES area enclosed by the septal epicardial contours and the insertion of the right ventricle in the short-axis images. Lateral contribution was similarly calculated from the difference between the ED and ES area enclosed by the lateral LV epicardial contours and the right ventricular insertion points in the short-axis images (Figure 14b).



Figure 14a (upper three images). Atrioventricular (AV) plane definition. The solid line shows the AVplane at end-diastole; the dashed line shows AV-plane at end-systole. The AVPD was defined as the perpendicular mean shortening distance in millimeters between the six markings shown as red dots.

Figure 14b (lower two images). Septal and lateral contribution to stroke volume. The septal part of the left ventricle is defined as the part between the anterior and inferior insertion of the right ventricle, and the lateral part is defined by the remaining free wall. Septal and lateral contribution to stroke volume is calculated by the milliliters of blood displaced by each segment's movement during systole divided by the estimated stroke volume. The gray area shows the septal contribution, and the black area shows the lateral contribution.

Perfusion analysis

Left ventricular mass, volumes, and function were quantified from manual delineations of the epicardium and endocardium of the left ventricle in short-axis cine steady-state free precision images.

The presence of previous infarction and fibrosis was assessed by visual evaluation of late gadolinium hyper-enhancement.

The presence of edema was assessed by visual evaluation of increased signal intensity on T2 weighted images.

The endo- and epicardial borders for the short-axis perfusion maps were manually delineated at stress and rest. The delineations were kept approximately two pixels away from the endo- and epicardial borders to avoid the inclusion of blood pool or extracardiac structures within the myocardial contours. Image artifacts were excluded from the regions of interest.

Myocardial perfusion (MP) was assessed globally and as a 17-segment regional model excluding the apical segment (169). Segments with regional hypoperfusion corresponding to coronary artery stenosis supplying that region were excluded from the analysis of global MP. Segments with LGE patterns consistent with infarction or fibrosis were also excluded.

Myocardial perfusion reserve (MPR) was calculated as the ratio between MP during stress and at rest. The MPR was calculated regionally and globally.

The MP at rest has previously been shown to be related to the rate-pressure product (RPP = heart rate * systolic blood pressure). To adjust for this possible bias, resting MP in each subject was reported corrected for both the individual RPP and for the mean RPP of the group (170). The rate-pressure product corrected MPR was also calculated as the ratio between MP at stress and corrected MP at rest.

CPET

Cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) was performed as part of the routine posttransplant surveillance program. Peak oxygen uptake was measured according to accredited clinical routines. Protocols were individually adapted based on age, sex, and physical activity level, and chosen to yield an exercise duration of 8–12 min (171).

Coronary angiography

A coronary angiogram was performed on 25 heart-transplanted patients according to clinical routine. Cardiac allograft vasculopathy severity was classified according to the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation nomenclature (18), where CAV 0 = not significant, CAV 1 = mild, CAV 2 = moderate, and CAV 3 = severe.

Statistical analysis

Normal distribution was tested visually and using the D'Agostino-Pearson test.

Mean values were compared using a two-sided unpaired t-test.

The relationships between continuous variables were assessed using Pearson's linear correlation coefficient.

Single linear regression models were used to analyze potential associations between LVAVPD and transplant status, heart rate (HR), left ventricular volume, body surface area, sex and age.

Multiple linear regression models were used to assess the potential association between factors that were significantly associated in the single linear regression analysis.

Main findings

Left ventricular atrioventricular plane displacement

- Left ventricular AVPD was lower in the transplanted group (10.3mm vs 13.7mm).
- There was no association between LVAVPD and time from transplant or between LVAVPD and previous rejections.
- There was no significant association between LVAVPD and cardiac output at rest.

Regional contribution to stroke volume

- When compared to healthy controls, the transplanted patients had:
 - Lower longitudinal contribution to stroke volume
 - Lower septal contribution to stroke volume
 - Higher lateral contribution to stroke volume (Figure 15).



Figure 15: Regional contributions to stroke volume

Ejection fraction, stroke volume and cardiac output

- There was no difference in left ventricular ejection fractions (LVEF) between groups.
- Stroke volumes were lower in the transplanted cohort (90ml vs 100ml).
- Cardiac output was higher (7.2L/min vs 6.4L/min) in the transplanted patients due to higher heart rates (81bpm vs 64bpm).

Association with LVAVPD

- Transplant status, age, left ventricular end-diastolic volume, and heart rate were independently correlated with LVAVPD.
- In the multiple linear regression analysis, only transplant status and age remained significantly associated.
- There was no difference in stroke volume, atrioventricular plane displacement, or septal or lateral contribution to stroke volume between transplanted patients with and without complete right bundle branch block.
- There was no association between the LVAVPD at rest and peak oxygen uptake in the transplanted group.

Myocardial perfusion in heart transplant recipients compared to controls

- There were no differences in the resting myocardial perfusion between the heart-transplanted patients and the controls.
- There were no differences in the myocardial perfusions between the female and male transplanted patients.
- During stress, myocardial perfusion was lower in the heart-transplanted patients (2.9ml/min vs 3.4ml/min).
- The myocardial perfusion reserve was significantly lower in the heart-transplanted cohort (2.7ml/min vs 3.8ml/min).
- We observed no difference in the myocardial perfusion during rest between patients who were less than one-year post-transplant, compared to those who were examined more than 2 years after.

Myocardial perfusion in relation to hemodynamics and CPET values

- The rate pressure product (RPP) (9740bpm*mmHg vs 7687bpm*mmHg) and heart rate at rest (80bpm vs 64bpm) were higher in the heart-transplanted patients. The systolic blood pressure did not differ between the groups.
- No difference in RPP, systolic blood pressure or heart rate was found between heart-transplanted patients and controls during stress.
- The myocardial perfusion reserve corrected for RPP was lower in the transplanted patients than in the healthy controls (2.6ml/min vs 3.7ml/min).
- At rest, myocardial perfusion was correlated with RPP and heart rate, but there was no correlation between the myocardial perfusion and systolic blood pressure or stroke volume.
- Myocardial perfusion reserve in transplanted patients was correlated with the maximal workload, VO2 peak, VO2 at the anaerobic threshold, and O2 pulse.
- There was no correlation between the myocardial perfusion at stress and any measured CPET value.

Conclusion

The thesis aimed to paint a broad picture of outcomes related to mortality, morbidity, and physical limitations facing heart transplant recipients in Sweden.

In **Paper I**, we confirmed that long-term post-heart transplant survival in Sweden is excellent. We showed that, although the time awaiting transplant slightly increased after heart transplant surgery was centralized in Sweden from 2011, both survival both while on the waiting list as well as survival post-transplant was improved. The difference in survival rates between the two analyzed 10-year periods was mainly due to greater early post-operative survival rates. This trend was consistent in patients from all Swedish regions.

In **Paper II**, we showed that survival among heart transplant recipients who were followed up in Lund, Sweden, is excellent compared to survival rates that have been reported internationally (1). The high survival rate is likely due to a broad range of factors, including patient selection, surgery and post-operative medical care, post-transplant follow-up, free medication, free admittance to hospitals and free access to healthcare in general, and quality treatment of comorbidities, availability of psychosocial and physical support, opportunities to work part-time, and governmental financial support for those unable to work.

As previously learned from other patient groups (172, 173), the study confirmed that registry data on cause of death should be interpreted cautiously, and a less meticulous classification system may improve validity. We also analyzed the number of life-years lost to different causes of death, and showed that while causes of death such as cancer, infection, and chronic rejection are common within the heart transplant recipient group, acute rejection affects younger patients more and results in a greater number of life-years lost.

In **Paper III**, we identified Swedish heart transplant recipients using national patient registries and personal identification numbers. We were able to extract information regarding diagnoses from primary and specialist care, prescribed medication, and data on the patient's socioeconomic background. By comparing the heart transplant recipient group with a control group, we showed that heart transplant recipients have a greater incidence of anxiety- and depression-associated diagnoses, but do not receive more antidepressants post-transplant. Our findings showed no clear trend toward fewer psychiatric diagnoses post-transplant than pre-transplant.

In **papers IV and V**, we investigated the mechanistic properties of transplanted hearts using CMR. Transplant vasculopathy (CAV) is a leading cause of long-term mortality in heart transplant recipients (1) and has previously been associated with decreased longitudinal function measured by tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion (TAPSE) (174) and decreased myocardial perfusion as measured by CMR (175).

In **Paper IV**, we showed that the cohort of heart transplant recipients had lower longitudinal heart function as measured by the left ventricular atrioventricular plane displacement (LVAVPD) and lower longitudinal contribution to stroke volume than the control group. Longitudinal motion has previously been shown to be the most energy-efficient way for the heart to pump (176), and our result may help explain the decreased exercise capacity in heart transplant recipients as compared to healthy individuals (148, 149).

In **Paper V**, global myocardial perfusion in the same cohort of heart transplant recipients was demonstrated to be maintained at rest but decreased during stress. The myocardial perfusion reserve was decreased, and there was an association between the reserve and the maximal workload, VO_2 at anaerobic threshold, and the O_2 -pulse.

To summarize, the present thesis shows that while survival after heart transplantation in Sweden is excellent and continues to improve, heart transplant recipients continue to face psychiatric and physical challenges. This merits further research and focus.

Future perspectives

The papers referred to in this thesis raise several questions that should be investigated further.

Exactly what parts of pre-operative, operative, and post-transplant treatment contributed to the higher survival rates in the early post-operative period? Is the same rise in survival rates perceived in other countries or hospitals that have not observed the same increase in heart transplant numbers? Previous studies have shown that transplant facility size may play a role (177-180), and better overall results have been reported at the larger transplant facilities (181). However, there are no nationwide studies that enable comparison. An analysis of Scandiatransplant data from other comparable Scandinavian countries would be of interest.

Are issues related to the validity of registered causes of death limited to our heart transplant center, or is this a national or international problem? Several studies have noted low validity of data in the cause of death registry (182-184). Would a simplified system of classification increase the validity? Conducting a limited-size prospective trial of a simplified classification could help gain more knowledge. Confirmation of the result from other equivalent disease groups or from other Scandiatransplant or ISHLT-registry-connected countries would strengthen the result.

As depression and anxiety were shown to be common among heart transplant recipients, would responsive interaction and early treatment of psychiatric ailments improve symptoms? Is post-transplant psychiatric illness associated with working ability and sick leave? Would an intervention with medication, psychotherapy, or both, affect work capacity and possibly even long-term survival?

Is the observed rise in recurrent depression and anxiety post-transplant, and the coincident lack of increase in prescriptions for antidepressants and anxiety medication during the same period, a result of symptom relief, or is it due to medical practitioners' fear of the complexity of psychological disease and possible interactions of antidepressants/anti-anxiety medicines with immunosuppressants, or are there other contributing factors? Are there other medical diagnoses common to the transplanted group that are either undertreated or undiagnosed?

Is the reduced longitudinal heart function that we observed only an issue at rest, or are the longitudinal myocardial fibers recruited during exercise? A follow-up study

on working mechanics, by echocardiography or CMR would be of interest. Are the altered pumping mechanics a result of the properties of the transplanted hearts in itself, or could similar findings be seen in other post-thoracotomy patient groups? A comparison with patients who have undergone valve surgery, and in the absence of ischemic heart disease, could be of interest.

Finally, would the decreased myocardial perfusion reserve be even more apparent in a larger cohort, including a larger proportion of patients who have had their transplanted heart for a longer time? Also, is the reduced myocardial perfusion reserve primarily a result of microvascular CAV, or do other mechanisms play a role, e.g. ischemic damage from surgery or chronic rejection?

The possibilities for further studies seem endless, and I can't wait to dig in.

Tack!

Det är så många man vill tacka, och flera som förtjänt uppmärksamhet än de jag nämner vid namn här. Ett stort tack till er alla!

Tack till min huvudhandledare **Oscar Braun**, for ditt enorma tålamod och din förmåga att alltid balansera pragmatism där det är möjligt med noggrannhet när det är nödvändigt. Du har lagt ner en enorm insats i alla mina delarbeten, och har hela tiden prioriterat min framgång över egna pretentioner. Det är en förmån att få ha en mycket kär vän både som forskningshandledare och kollega i det dagliga kliniska arbetet.

Till min bi-handledare **Johan Nilsson**, för både forskningshandledning och ekonomiskt stöd. Du har varit en oerhört stor hjälp för att få avhandlingen klar. Du finns alltid tillgänglig för diskussion, och besitter en djup och bred kunskap inom transplantationsområdet som är av ovärderlig nytta i både forskningssammanhang och i vår kliniska vardag.

Till min forskningsmässiga bi-handledare, före detta kliniska handledare och chef **Patrik Tydén** för dina kloka råd och ständiga stöd i både klinisk tjänst och forskning. Du var tilltänkt en större roll den gång både min kliniska vardag och forskning lutade mer åt akut hjärtsvikt, men jag har behållit din support när både vardag och avhandling riktade sig mer mot transplantationsfrågor. Utan ditt stöd och handledning, hade jag inte varit där jag är i dag.

Till min gode vän och bi-handledare **Gustav Smith**, som hjälpt till som boll-plank i såväl design av avhandling och studier som med värdefull input på vägen. Du är saknad i Lund!

Till min forskningsmentor, **Fredrik Holmqvist**. Valet kändes självklart. Det blev inte många möten, men du sa precis vad jag behövde höra.

Till min kliniska mentor, *Dr Hjärttransplantation* i Sverige, **Björn Kornhall**, som tog mig under sina vingar och introducerade mig för transplantationsverksamheten innan han gav bollen vidare. De fina resultat vi presenterar här, är till stor del ett resultat av det enorma arbetet du lagt ner för att bygga upp en strukturerad svensk hjärttransplantationsvård.

Till min likaså kliniska mentor och landsman Øyvind Reitan, som tillsammans med Björn introducerade mig för den avancerade hjärtsviktsvården. Jag hoppas jag har "ärvt" lite av din entusiasm för hemodynamik och din förmåga att hitta kreativa lösningar där patienten alltid är i fokus.

Till min statistiska guru, **Rebecca Rylance**, för fantastiskt roligt samarbete med svår statistik på vår gemensamma artikel, men även för ständigt stöd kring den svåraste delen av forskningen även när du inte behövt det.

Till **Kristina Sundquist**, **Veronica Milos Nymberg** och **Xinjun Li** på *Centrum för Primärvårdsforskning* för ett roligt och produktivt samarbete med mitt tredje manuskript, som förhoppningsvis öppnar för flera gemensamma projekt i framtiden.

Till Katarina Steding Ehrenborg, Kristian Dimovski, Henrik Engblom och Håkan Arheden i hjärt-MR gruppen på Klinisk Fysiologi för roliga och produktiva samarbeten, och med förhoppning om flera gemensamma arbeten som kan dra nytta av vår olika bakgrund i framtiden.

Till mina kliniska *vapenbröder* Jakob Lundgren, Arash Moktari, Johan Holm, Göran Rådegran och Ævar Úlfarsson för världens bästa arbetsklimat med humor, högt till tak och en ständig anda av att alla ställer upp för laget.

Till transplantationsteamet - Amna Pipic, Kenneth Anderson, Maria Carlquist samt Anneli Ahlqvist och alla från svikt- och GUCH-teamen, som alltid stödjer mig och håller ut med mina påhitt och tidvisa humörsvängningar.

Till alla på **EKO-lab**, för ert ständiga stöd, problemlösande anda och oslagbara humor. Inte minst till **Annika Ingvarsson** och **Carl Meurling** för ett roligt samarbete som tyvärr inte fick plats i avhandlingen.

Till värdens bästa Lena Lindén och Monica Magnusson, som alltid ger stöd, löser problem och har svar på alla praktiska frågor.

Till min, alltid och på alla sätt, stödjande **familj**, som nu kan glädjas över att den sista av "barnen" äntligen disputerat, men nog mest fröjder sig över alla livsmässiga pusselbitar som trillat på sin plats för min del det senaste året. Inte minst ett stort tack till min **far**, som alltid fungerar som både klinisk och forskningsmässig bollplank och ger snabb, konstruktiv och ärlig återkoppling.

Till jenta mi, **Hedda**, som lyser upp mina dagar och är min favorit-följesvän på alla äventyr.

Till lille **Trygve**, som precis anlänt i våra liv, och nu både kräver och får all vår gemensamma uppmärksamhet.

Och sist, till **min Anna**. Värdens härligaste telefonröst. Värdens smartaste och gladaste tjej. Världens snyggaste forskarnörd. Värdens bästa flickvän. Världens underbaraste mamma. Vi hittade varandra. Oss två för alltid.

References

- Khush KK, Cherikh WS, Chambers DC, Goldfarb S, Hayes D, Jr., Kucheryavaya AY, et al. The International Thoracic Organ Transplant Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: Thirty-fifth Adult Heart Transplantation Report-2018; Focus Theme: Multiorgan Transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2018;37(10):1155-68.
- Littlefield C, Abbey S, Fiducia D, Cardella C, Greig P, Levy G, et al. Quality of life following transplantation of the heart, liver, and lungs. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 1996;18(6 Suppl):36s-47s.
- 3. Holzhauser L, Reza N, Edwards JJ, Birati EY, Owens AT, McLean R, et al. Emergency Department Use and Hospital Mortality Among Heart Transplant Recipients in the United States. J Am Heart Assoc. 2024;13(5):e032676.
- Barnard CN. The operation. A human cardiac transplant: an interim report of a successful operation performed at Groote Schuur Hospital, Cape Town. S Afr Med J. 1967;41(48):1271-4.
- McKellar S. Clinical Firsts Christiaan Barnard's Heart Transplantations. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(23):2211-3.
- The Dick Cavett Show. Available from: <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/The_Dick_Cavett_Show</u> Accessed 6 August 2024.
- Dr Christian Barnard visiting the Dick Cavett Show 05.04.1970 1970. Available from: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UMMfVq3hW-Y</u> Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 8. Cooper DKC. Christiaan Barnard and his contributions to heart transplantation. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2001;20(6):599-610.
- 9. Carrel A. GC. Transplantation Of Blood Vessels And Organs. British Medical Journal. 1906;Dec . 2(2399), 1796-1796.
- WE A. Experimental Transplantation of Vital Organs . By V. P. Demikhov. Authorized translation from the Russian by Basil Haigh, M.A., M.B., B.Chir. Cloth. Pp. 285, with 74 illustrations. Consultants Bureau, 227 W. 17th St., New York City, 1962. Anesthesiology. 1963;24(408).
- 11. Hardy JD CC, Kurrus FD, et al. Heart Transplantation in Man: Developmental Studies and Report of a Case. JAMA. 1964;188(13):1132-40.
- 12. Stehlik J, Kobashigawa J, Hunt SA, Reichenspurner H, Kirklin JK. Honoring 50 Years of Clinical Heart Transplantation in Circulation: In-Depth State-of-the-Art Review. Circulation. 2018;137(1):71-87.

- 13. Lower RR, Shumway NE. Studies on orthotopic homotransplantation of the canine heart. Surg Forum. 1960;11:18-9.
- 14. English ST. The dark early years of heart transplantation: Some lessons learned. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2017;36(12):1279-82.
- 15. Griepp RB, Stinson EB, Dong E, Jr., Clark DA, Shumway NE. Acute rejection of the allogrfted human heart. Ann Thorac Surg. 1971;12(2):113-26.
- 16. Caves PK, Stinson EB, Billingham M, Shumway NE. Percutaneous transvenous endomyocardial biopsy in human heart recipients. Experience with a new technique. Ann Thorac Surg. 1973;16(4):325-36.
- 17. Griepp RB, Stinson EB, Dong E, Jr., Phillips RC, Morrell RM, Shumway NE. Use of antithymocyte globulin in human heart transplantation. Circulation. 1972;45(5 Suppl 1):I147-53.
- Caves PK, Stinson EB, Billingham ME, Shumway NE. Serial transvenous biopsy of the transplanted human heart. Improved management of acute rejection episodes. Lancet. 1974;1(7862):821-6.
- 19. Graham AF, Rider AK, Caves PK, Stinson EB, Harrison DC, Shumway NE, et al. Acute rejection in the long-term cardiac transplant survivor. Clinical diagnosis, treatment and significance. Circulation. 1974;49(2):361-6.
- 20. Shumway SJ. A Tribute to Norman E. Shumway, MD, PhD (1923–2006). Heart Failure Clinics. 2007;3(2):111-5.
- 21. Wood KJ, Goto R. Mechanisms of Rejection: Current Perspectives. Transplantation. 2012;93(1):1-10.
- Hara M, Kingsley CI, Niimi M, Read S, Turvey SE, Bushell AR, et al. IL-10 is required for regulatory T cells to mediate tolerance to alloantigens in vivo. J Immunol. 2001;166(6):3789-96.
- 23. Kedzierska K KM. The ABC of Major Histocompatibility Complexes and T Cell Receptors in Health and Disease. Viral Immunology. 2020;33(3):160-78.
- 24. Costanzo MR, Dipchand A, Starling R, Anderson A, Chan M, Desai S, et al. The International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation Guidelines for the care of heart transplant recipients. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010;29(8):914-56.
- 25. Roitt I RA. Really Essential Medical Immunology: Blackwell Science Ltd; 2000.
- Rocca HPB-L, Su["]tsch G, Schneider J, Follath F, Kiowski W. Natural Course of Moderate Cardiac Allograft Rejection (International Society for Heart Transplantation Grade 2) Early and Late After Transplantation. Circulation. 1996;94(6):1334-8.
- 27. Tan CD, Baldwin WM, 3rd, Rodriguez ER. Update on cardiac transplantation pathology. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2007;131(8):1169-91.
- 28. Hammond EH, Yowell RL, Nunoda S, Menlove RL, Renlund DG, Bristow MR, et al. Vascular (humoral) rejection in heart transplantation: pathologic observations and clinical implications. J Heart Transplant. 1989;8(6):430-43.
- 29. Reed EF, Demetris AJ, Hammond E, Itescu S, Kobashigawa JA, Reinsmoen NL, et al. Acute antibody-mediated rejection of cardiac transplants. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2006;25(2):153-9.

- 30. Patel JK. Early and late AMR in heart transplantation-Distinct entities? J Heart Lung Transplant. 2016;35(9):1055-6.
- Murata K, Baldwin WM, 3rd. Mechanisms of complement activation, C4d deposition, and their contribution to the pathogenesis of antibody-mediated rejection. Transplant Rev (Orlando). 2009;23(3):139-50.
- 32. Snyderman R, Pike MC, McCarley D, Lang L. Quantification of mouse macrophage chemotaxis in vitro: role of C5 for the production of chemotactic activity. Infect Immun. 1975;11(3):488-92.
- Loupy A, Cazes A, Guillemain R, Amrein C, Hedjoudje A, Tible M, et al. Very late heart transplant rejection is associated with microvascular injury, complement deposition and progression to cardiac allograft vasculopathy. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(7):1478-87.
- Kfoury AG, Hammond ME, Snow GL, Drakos SG, Stehlik J, Fisher PW, et al. Cardiovascular mortality among heart transplant recipients with asymptomatic antibody-mediated or stable mixed cellular and antibody-mediated rejection. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2009;28(8):781-4.
- 35. Gao S-Z, Hunt SA, Schroeder JS, Alderman EL, Hill IR, Stinson EB. Early development of accelerated graft coronary artery disease: Risk factors and course. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 1996;28(3):673-9.
- Ventura H MM. A Quarter Century of Achievements in Heart and Lung Transplantation 2005. Available from: <u>https://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/505284?form=fpf</u> Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 37. ISHLT TTX Registry Special Report 2023. Available from: <u>https://ishltregistries.org/registries/slides.asp</u> Accessed 6 August 2024.
- Kronke M, Leonard WJ, Depper JM, Arya SK, Wong-Staal F, Gallo RC, et al. Cyclosporin A inhibits T-cell growth factor gene expression at the level of mRNA transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1984;81(16):5214-8.
- 39. Katsaris F NH. Ciklosporin. Store Norske Leksikon. Available from: <u>https://sml.snl.no/ciklosporin</u> Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 40. Griffith BP, Hardesty RL, Deeb GM, Starzl TE, Bahnson HT. Cardiac transplantation with cyclosporin A and prednisone. Ann Surg. 1982;196(3):324-9.
- 41. Cheng M. Hartmann Stahelin (1925-2011) and the contested history of cyclosporin A. Clin Transplant. 2013;27(3):326-9.
- 42. Opelz G. Multicenter evaluation of immunosuppressive regimens in heart transplantation. The Collaborative Transplant Study. Transplant Proc. 1997;29(1-2):617-9.
- Baldwin JC, Shumway NE. Cardiac transplantation. Z Kardiol. 1985;74 Suppl 6:39-43.
- 44. Lund LH, Edwards LB, Kucheryavaya AY, Benden C, Dipchand AI, Goldfarb S, et al. The Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: Thirty-second Official Adult Heart Transplantation Report--2015; Focus Theme: Early Graft Failure. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34(10):1244-54.

- 45. Simon DM, Levin S. Iinfectious complications of solid organ transplantations. Infectious Disease Clinics of North America. 2001;15(2):521-49.
- 46. Gentry LO, Zeluff BJ. Diagnosis and treatment of infection in cardiac transplant patients. Surg Clin North Am. 1986;66(3):459-65.
- 47. Linder J. Infection as a complication of heart transplantation. J Heart Transplant. 1988;7(5):390-4.
- 48. Dummer JS, Hardy A, Poorsattar A, Ho M. Early infections in kidney, heart, and liver transplant recipients on cyclosporine. Transplantation. 1983;36(3):259-67.
- 49. Dummer JS, White LT, Ho M, Griffith BP, Hardesty RL, Bahnson HT. Morbidity of cytomegalovirus infection in recipients of heart or heart-lung transplants who received cyclosporine. J Infect Dis. 1985;152(6):1182-91.
- Keay S, Petersen E, Merigan TC. Ganciclovir Treatment of Serious Cytomegalovirus Infection in Heart and Heart-Lung Transplant Recipients. Reviews of Infectious Diseases. 1988;10:S563-S72.
- 51. Barnard CN, Losman JG. Left ventricular bypass. S Afr Med J. 1975;49(9):303-12.
- 52. Losman JG, Barnard C. Hemodynamic evaluation of left ventricular bypass with a homologous cardiac graft. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1977;74(5):695-708.
- 53. Novitzky D, Cooper DK, Barnard CN. The surgical technique of heterotopic heart transplantation. Ann Thorac Surg. 1983;36(4):476-82.
- 54. Yacoub MH, Banner NR. 1 Recent developments in lung and heart-lung transplantation. Transplantation Reviews. 1989;3:1-29.
- 55. Zijderhand CF, Veen KM, Caliskan K, Schoonen T, Mokhles MM, Bekkers JA, et al. Biatrial Versus Bicaval Orthotopic Heart Transplantation: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Ann Thorac Surg. 2020;110(2):684-91.
- 56. Koul. B, Liska. J, Dellgren. G, Nilsson. J. Svensk kardiologi en historiebok. Svenska Kardiologföreningen. 2014:271-88.
- 57. Billingham ME, Cary NR, Hammond ME, Kemnitz J, Marboe C, McCallister HA, et al. A working formulation for the standardization of nomenclature in the diagnosis of heart and lung rejection: Heart Rejection Study Group. The International Society for Heart Transplantation. J Heart Transplant. 1990;9(6):587-93.
- Caves PK, Stinson EB, Billingham ME, Rider AK, Shumway NE. Diagnosis of human cardiac allograft rejection by serial cardiac biopsy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1973;66(3):461-6.
- 59. Stewart S, Winters GL, Fishbein MC, Tazelaar HD, Kobashigawa J, Abrams J, et al. Revision of the 1990 working formulation for the standardization of nomenclature in the diagnosis of heart rejection. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2005;24(11):1710-20.
- 60. Kane JP, Malloy MJ, Ports TA, Phillips NR, Diehl JC, Havel RJ. Regression of coronary atherosclerosis during treatment of familial hypercholesterolemia with combined drug regimens. Jama. 1990;264(23):3007-12.
- 61. Blankenhorn DH, Hodis HN. Atherosclerosis--reversal with therapy. West J Med. 1993;159(2):172-9.

- 62. Brown G, Albers JJ, Fisher LD, Schaefer SM, Lin JT, Kaplan C, et al. Regression of coronary artery disease as a result of intensive lipid-lowering therapy in men with high levels of apolipoprotein B. N Engl J Med. 1990;323(19):1289-98.
- 63. Eich D, Thompson JA, Ko DJ, Hastillo A, Lower R, Katz S, et al. Hypercholesterolemia in long-term survivors of heart transplantation: an early marker of accelerated coronary artery disease. J Heart Lung Transplant. 1991;10(1 Pt 1):45-9.
- 64. Meiser BM, Wenke K, Thiery J, Wolf S, Devens C, Seidel D, et al. Simvastatin decreases accelerated graft vessel disease after heart transplantation in an animal model. Transplant Proc. 1993;25(2):2077-9.
- 65. Kobashigawa JA, Katznelson S, Laks H, Johnson JA, Yeatman L, Wang XM, et al. Effect of Pravastatin on Outcomes after Cardiac Transplantation. New England Journal of Medicine. 1995;333(10):621-7.
- 66. Regueira TB, Kildegaard KR, Hansen BG, Mortensen UH, Hertweck C, Nielsen J. Molecular basis for mycophenolic acid biosynthesis in Penicillium brevicompactum. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2011;77(9):3035-43.
- 67. J S. CellCept FDA Approval History at Drugs.com 2024 [Available from: <u>https://www.drugs.com/history/cellcept.html</u>.
- Kobashigawa J, Miller L, Renlund D, Mentzer R, Alderman E, Bourge R, et al. A randomized active-controlled trial of mycophenolate mofetil in heart transplant recipients. Mycophenolate Mofetil Investigators. Transplantation. 1998;66(4):507-15.
- 69. Slides. The Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: Eighteenth Annual Report 2001. Available from: <u>https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&source=web&rct=j&opi=89978449&url=https://is</u> <u>hltregistries.org/downloadables/slides/2001/introduction.ppt&ved=2ahUKEwiWtv6t</u> <u>pcSFAxUxPhAIHSxvBTQQFnoECBgQAQ&usg=AOvVaw3AUTq8mv-SpnZ2Q5-Yf3IV</u> Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 70. Fraund S, Pethig K, Franke U, Wahlers T, Harringer W, Cremer J, et al. Ten year survival after heart transplantation: palliative procedure or successful long term treatment? Heart. 1999;82(1):47-51.
- 71. Goto T, Kino T, Hatanaka H, Nishiyama M, Okuhara M, Kohsaka M, et al. Discovery of FK-506, a novel immunosuppressant isolated from Streptomyces tsukubaensis. Transplant Proc. 1987;19(5 Suppl 6):4-8.
- 72. Patel JK, Kobashigawa JA. Tacrolimus in heart transplant recipients: an overview. BioDrugs. 2007;21(3):139-43.
- 73. Armitage JM, Kormos RL, Fung J, Lavee J, Fricker FJ, Griffith BP, et al. Preliminary experience with FK506 in thoracic transplantation. Transplantation. 1991;52(1):164-7.
- Armitage JM, Fricker FJ, Del Nido P, Cipriani L, Starzl TE. The clinical trial of FK 506 as primary and rescue immunosuppression in pediatric cardiac transplantation. Transplant Proc. 1991;23(6):3058-60.

- 75. Pham SM, Kormos RL, Hattler BG, Kawai A, Tsamandas AC, Demetris AJ, et al. A prospective trial of tacrolimus (FK 506) in clinical heart transplantation: intermediate-term results. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1996;111(4):764-72.
- 76. Cantin B, Kwok BW, Shiba N, Valantine HA, Hunt SA, Chan MC. Post-operative conversion from cyclosporine to tacrolimus in heart transplantation: a single-center experience. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2003;22(7):723-30.
- 77. Grimm M, Rinaldi M, Yonan NA, Arpesella G, Arizón Del Prado JM, Pulpón LA, et al. Superior prevention of acute rejection by tacrolimus vs. cyclosporine in heart transplant recipients--a large European trial. Am J Transplant. 2006;6(6):1387-97.
- Reichart B, Meiser B, Viganò M, Rinaldi M, Martinelli L, Yacoub M, et al. European Multicenter Tacrolimus (FK506) Heart Pilot Study: one-year results--European Tacrolimus Multicenter Heart Study Group. J Heart Lung Transplant. 1998;17(8):775-81.
- 79. Taylor DO, Barr ML, Radovancevic B, Renlund DG, Mentzer RM, Jr., Smart FW, et al. A randomized, multicenter comparison of tacrolimus and cyclosporine immunosuppressive regimens in cardiac transplantation: decreased hyperlipidemia and hypertension with tacrolimus. J Heart Lung Transplant. 1999;18(4):336-45.
- Kobashigawa JA, Patel J, Furukawa H, Moriguchi JD, Yeatman L, Takemoto S, et al. Five-year results of a randomized, single-center study of tacrolimus vs microemulsion cyclosporine in heart transplant patients. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2006;25(4):434-9.
- 81. Garlicki M, Czub P, Labuś K, Ehrlich MP, Rdzanek H. Conversion from cyclosporine to tacrolimus improves renal function and lipid profile after cardiac transplantation. Ann Transplant. 2006;11(1):24-7.
- 82. Baran DA, Zucker MJ, Arroyo LH, Camacho M, Goldschmidt ME, Nicholls SJ, et al. A prospective, randomized trial of single-drug versus dual-drug immunosuppression in heart transplantation: the tacrolimus in combination, tacrolimus alone compared (TICTAC) trial. Circ Heart Fail. 2011;4(2):129-37.
- 83. Kobashigawa J, Crespo-Leiro MG, Ensminger SM, Reichenspurner H, Angelini A, Berry G, et al. Report from a consensus conference on antibody-mediated rejection in heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2011;30(3):252-69.
- Colvin MM, Cook JL, Chang P, Francis G, Hsu DT, Kiernan MS, et al. Antibodymediated rejection in cardiac transplantation: emerging knowledge in diagnosis and management: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2015;131(18):1608-39.
- 85. Berry GJ, Burke MM, Andersen C, Bruneval P, Fedrigo M, Fishbein MC, et al. The 2013 International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation Working Formulation for the standardization of nomenclature in the pathologic diagnosis of antibodymediated rejection in heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2013;32(12):1147-62.
- 86. Kobashigawa J, Colvin M, Potena L, Dragun D, Crespo-Leiro MG, Delgado JF, et al. The management of antibodies in heart transplantation: An ISHLT consensus document. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2018;37(5):537-47.

- 87. Michaels PJ, Espejo ML, Kobashigawa J, Alejos JC, Burch C, Takemoto S, et al. Humoral rejection in cardiac transplantation: risk factors, hemodynamic consequences and relationship to transplant coronary artery disease. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2003;22(1):58-69.
- 88. Keck BM, Bennett LE, Rosendale J, Daily OP, Novick RJ, Hosenpud JD. Worldwide thoracic organ transplantation: a report from the UNOS/ISHLT International Registry for Thoracic Organ Transplantation. Clin Transpl. 1999:35-49.
- 89. Kampaktsis PN, Doulamis IP, Asleh R, Makri E, Kalamaras I, Papastergiopoulos C, et al. Characteristics, Predictors, and Outcomes of Early mTOR Inhibitor Use After Heart Transplantation: Insights From the UNOS Database. J Am Heart Assoc. 2022;11(17):e025507.
- 90. Eisen HJ, Tuzcu EM, Dorent R, Kobashigawa J, Mancini D, Kaeppler HAV-v, et al. Everolimus for the Prevention of Allograft Rejection and Vasculopathy in Cardiac-Transplant Recipients. New England Journal of Medicine. 2003;349(9):847-58.
- 91. Viganò M, Tuzcu M, Benza R, Boissonnat P, Haverich A, Hill J, et al. Prevention of Acute Rejection and Allograft Vasculopathy by Everolimus in Cardiac Transplants Recipients: A 24-Month Analysis. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2007;26(6):584-92.
- 92. Eisen HJ, Kobashigawa J, Starling RC, Pauly DF, Kfoury A, Ross H, et al. Everolimus Versus Mycophenolate Mofetil in Heart Transplantation: A Randomized, Multicenter Trial. American Journal of Transplantation. 2013;13(5):1203-16.
- 93. Kobashigawa JA, Pauly DF, Starling RC, Eisen H, Ross H, Wang S-S, et al. Cardiac Allograft Vasculopathy by Intravascular Ultrasound in Heart Transplant Patients: Substudy From the Everolimus Versus Mycophenolate Mofetil Randomized, Multicenter Trial. JACC: Heart Failure. 2013;1(5):389-99.
- 94. Keogh A, Richardson M, Ruygrok P, Spratt P, Galbraith A, O'Driscoll G, et al. Sirolimus in de novo heart transplant recipients reduces acute rejection and prevents coronary artery disease at 2 years: a randomized clinical trial. Circulation. 2004;110(17):2694-700.
- Raichlin E, Bae J-H, Khalpey Z, Edwards BS, Kremers WK, Clavell AL, et al. Conversion to Sirolimus as Primary Immunosuppression Attenuates the Progression of Allograft Vasculopathy After Cardiac Transplantation. Circulation. 2007;116(23):2726-33.
- 96. Topilsky Y, Hasin T, Raichlin E, Boilson BA, Schirger JA, Pereira NL, et al. Sirolimus as Primary Immunosuppression Attenuates Allograft Vasculopathy With Improved Late Survival and Decreased Cardiac Events After Cardiac Transplantation. Circulation. 2012;125(5):708-20.
- 97. Andreassen AK, Andersson B, Gustafsson F, Eiskjaer H, Radegran G, Gude E, et al. Everolimus initiation and early calcineurin inhibitor withdrawal in heart transplant recipients: a randomized trial. Am J Transplant. 2014;14(8):1828-38.
- Arora S, Andreassen AK, Karason K, Gustafsson F, Eiskjær H, Bøtker HE, et al. Effect of Everolimus Initiation and Calcineurin Inhibitor Elimination on Cardiac Allograft Vasculopathy in De Novo Heart Transplant Recipients. Circulation: Heart Failure. 2018;11(9):e004050.

- 99. Gustafsson F, Andreassen AK, Andersson B, Eiskjær H, Rådegran G, Gude E, et al. Everolimus Initiation With Early Calcineurin Inhibitor Withdrawal in De Novo Heart Transplant Recipients: Long-term Follow-up From the Randomized SCHEDULE Study. Transplantation. 2020;104(1).
- 100. Jennings DL, Lange N, Shullo M, Latif F, Restaino S, Topkara VK, et al. Outcomes associated with mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors in heart transplant recipients: A meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol. 2018;265:71-6.
- 101. Zuckermann A, Keogh A, Crespo-Leiro MG, Mancini D, Vilchez FG, Almenar L, et al. Randomized Controlled Trial of Sirolimus Conversion in Cardiac Transplant Recipients With Renal Insufficiency. American Journal of Transplantation. 2012;12(9):2487-97.
- 102. Barten MJ, Hirt SW, Garbade J, Bara C, Doesch AO, Knosalla C, et al. Comparing everolimus-based immunosuppression with reduction or withdrawal of calcineurin inhibitor reduction from 6 months after heart transplantation: The randomized MANDELA study. American Journal of Transplantation. 2019;19(11):3006-17.
- 103. Kobashigawa JA, Stevenson LW, Brownfield E, Moriguchi JD, Kawata N, Hamilton M, et al. Does short-course induction with OKT3 improve outcome after heart transplantation? A randomized trial. J Heart Lung Transplant. 1993;12(2):205-8.
- 104. Delgado JF, Vaqueriza D, Sánchez V, Escribano P, Ruiz-Cano MJ, Renes E, et al. Induction treatment with monoclonal antibodies for heart transplantation. Transplant Rev (Orlando). 2011;25(1):21-6.
- 105. Beniaminovitz A, Itescu S, Lietz K, Donovan M, Burke EM, Groff BD, et al. Prevention of rejection in cardiac transplantation by blockade of the interleukin-2 receptor with a monoclonal antibody. N Engl J Med. 2000;342(9):613-9.
- 106. Hershberger RE, Starling RC, Eisen HJ, Bergh CH, Kormos RL, Love RB, et al. Daclizumab to prevent rejection after cardiac transplantation. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(26):2705-13.
- 107. Rosenberg PB, Vriesendorp AE, Drazner MH, Dries DL, Kaiser PA, Hynan LS, et al. Induction therapy with basiliximab allows delayed initiation of cyclosporine and preserves renal function after cardiac transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2005;24(9):1327-31.
- 108. Tzani A, Van den Eynde J, Doulamis IP, Kuno T, Kampaktsis PN, Alvarez P, et al. Impact of induction therapy on outcomes after heart transplantation. Clin Transplant. 2021;35(10):e14440.
- 109. Bellumkonda L, Oikonomou EK, Hsueh C, Maulion C, Testani J, Patel J. The impact of induction therapy on mortality and treated rejection in cardiac transplantation: A retrospective study. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2022;41(4):482-91.
- 110. Penninga L, Møller CH, Gustafsson F, Gluud C, Steinbrüchel DA. Immunosuppressive T-cell antibody induction for heart transplant recipients. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2013(12).
- 111. Nozohoor S, Stehlik J, Lund LH, Ansari D, Andersson B, Nilsson J. Induction immunosuppression strategies and long-term outcomes after heart transplantation. Clinical Transplantation. 2020;34(7):e13871.

- Raffoux C, Mayor V, Cabrol C, Busson M, Hors J, Colombani J. The influence of HLA matching in cardiac allograft recipients in a single center. Transplant Proc. 1987;19(5):3559-60.
- 113. Pfeffer PF, Foerster A, Frøysaker T, Simonsen S, Thorsby E. HLA-DR mismatch and histologically evaluated rejection episodes in cardiac transplants can be correlated. Transplant Proc. 1988;20(3):367-8.
- 114. Laufer G, Miholic J, Laczkovics A, Wollenek G, Holzinger C, Wuzl G, et al. Independent risk factors predicting acute graft rejection in cardiac transplant recipients treated by triple drug immunosuppression. The Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. 1989;98(6):1113-21.
- 115. Zerbe TR, Arena VC, Kormos RL, Griffith BP, Hardesty RL, Duquesnoy RJ. Histocompatibility and other risk factors for histological rejection of human cariac allografts during the first three months following transplantation. Transplantation. 1991;52(3).
- 116. Opelz G, Wujciak T. The influence of HLA compatibility on graft survival after heart transplantation. The Collaborative Transplant Study. N Engl J Med. 1994;330(12):816-9.
- 117. Firoz A, Geier S, Yanagida ROH, Hamad E, Rakita VAL, Zhao H, et al. Heart Transplant Human Leukocyte Antigen Matching in the Modern Era. Journal of Cardiac Failure. 2024;30(2):362-72.
- 118. Ansari D, Bucin D, Höglund P, Ohlsson M, Andersson B, Nilsson J. Analysis of the Influence of HLA-A Matching Relative to HLA-B and -DR Matching on Heart Transplant Outcomes. Transplantation Direct. 2015;1(9):e38.
- 119. Nilsson J, Ansari D, Ohlsson M, Höglund P, Liedberg AS, Smith JG, et al. Human Leukocyte Antigen-Based Risk Stratification in Heart Transplant Recipients— Implications for Targeted Surveillance. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2019;8(15):e011124.
- 120. A definition of irreversible coma. Report of the Ad Hoc Committee of the Harvard Medical School to Examine the Definition of Brain Death. Jama. 1968;205(6):337-40.
- 121. Hess NR, Ziegler LA, Kaczorowski DJ. Heart Donation and Preservation: Historical Perspectives, Current Technologies, and Future Directions. J Clin Med. 2022;11(19).
- 122. Rega F, Lebreton G, Para M, Michel S, Schramm R, Begot E, et al. Non-Ischemic Preservation of the Donor Heart in Heart Transplantation - A Randomized, Controlled, Multicenter Trial Using The Xvivo Heart Assist Preservation System for Hypothermic Oxygenated Perfusion (NIHP2019). The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2024;43(4):S11.
- 123. Varma MR, Nasirov T, Goldstone AB, Lee E, Richmond ME, Profita EL. Decreased Risk of Primary Graft Dysfunction with the SherpaPak Cardiac Transport System in Pediatric Heart Transplant Recipients. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2024;43(4):S39.

- 124. Esmailian F, Stotland A, Patel J, Emerson D, Mirocha J, Bowdish M, et al. Randomized Trial to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of the Sherpa Pak Device versus Cold Storage of Donor Hearts in Transplantation: A Pilot Study. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2024;43(4):S155.
- 125. Krishnamoorthy B, Critchley W, Nwaejike N, Mehta V, Callan P, Shaw S, et al. (967) Use of the SherpaPak Cardiac Transport System Improves Freedom from Requirement for Mechanical Circulatory Support, Reduced Early Acute Cellular Rejection and Preserves Early Lv Function When Compared to Conventional Cold Storage. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2023;42(4):S416-S7.
- 126. Teuteberg J, Henricksen E, Khush K, Kim DT, Moayedi Y, Luikart H, et al. Keep Your Cool! One Year Outcomes with Use of a Hypothermic Preservation System Compared to Standard Storage with Ice During Heart Procurement. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2022;41(4):S201.
- 127. Kaye D, Fraser J, Jansz P, MacDonald P, Marasco S, Doi A, et al. (398) Favorable Impact of Hypothermic Machine Perfusion (HMP) on Early Renal Outcomes in Patients Undergoing Heart Transplantation Using Prolonged (6-8 Hour) Donor Hearts. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2023;42(4):S188.
- 128. Wisniewski AM, Weber M, Beller J, Yarboro L. Cardiac Donation After Circulatory Death in Adult Congenital Heart Disease: Early Experiences and Outcomes. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2024;43(4):S12.
- 129. Crespo-Leiro MG, Zuckermann A, Bara C, Mohacsi P, Schulz U, Boyle A, et al. Concordance among pathologists in the second Cardiac Allograft Rejection Gene Expression Observational Study (CARGO II). Transplantation. 2012;94(11):1172-7.
- Mandel P, Metais P. [Nuclear Acids In Human Blood Plasma]. C R Seances Soc Biol Fil. 1948;142(3-4):241-3.
- Lo YM, Tein MS, Pang CC, Yeung CK, Tong KL, Hjelm NM. Presence of donorspecific DNA in plasma of kidney and liver-transplant recipients. Lancet. 1998;351(9112):1329-30.
- 132. Deng MC, Eisen HJ, Mehra MR, Billingham M, Marboe CC, Berry G, et al. Noninvasive discrimination of rejection in cardiac allograft recipients using gene expression profiling. Am J Transplant. 2006;6(1):150-60.
- 133. Pham MX, Teuteberg JJ, Kfoury AG, Starling RC, Deng MC, Cappola TP, et al. Gene-Expression Profiling for Rejection Surveillance after Cardiac Transplantation. New England Journal of Medicine. 2010;362(20):1890-900.
- 134. Crespo-Leiro MG, Stypmann J, Schulz U, Zuckermann A, Mohacsi P, Bara C, et al. Clinical usefulness of gene-expression profile to rule out acute rejection after heart transplantation: CARGO II. Eur Heart J. 2016;37(33):2591-601.
- 135. Agbor-Enoh S, Shah P, Tunc I, Hsu S, Russell S, Feller E, et al. Cell-Free DNA to Detect Heart Allograft Acute Rejection. Circulation. 2021;143(12):1184-97.
- 136. Khush KK, Patel J, Pinney S, Kao A, Alharethi R, DePasquale E, et al. Noninvasive detection of graft injury after heart transplant using donor-derived cell-free DNA: A prospective multicenter study. Am J Transplant. 2019;19(10):2889-99.

- 137. Kamath M, Shekhtman G, Grogan T, Hickey MJ, Silacheva I, Shah KS, et al. Variability in Donor-Derived Cell-Free DNA Scores to Predict Mortality in Heart Transplant Recipients - A Proof-of-Concept Study. Front Immunol. 2022;13:825108.
- 138. Henricksen EJ, Moayedi Y, Purewal S, Twiggs JV, Waddell K, Luikart H, et al. Combining donor derived cell free DNA and gene expression profiling for noninvasive surveillance after heart transplantation. Clin Transplant. 2023;37(3):e14699.
- Pedrotti P, Vittori C, Facchetti R, Pedretti S, Dellegrottaglie S, Milazzo A, et al. Prognostic impact of late gadolinium enhancement in the risk stratification of heart transplant patients. European Heart Journal - Cardiovascular Imaging. 2016;18(2):130-7.
- 140. Butler CR, Kim DH, Chow K, Toma M, Thompson R, Mengel M, et al. Cardiovascular MRI Predicts 5-Year Adverse Clinical Outcome in Heart Transplant Recipients. American Journal of Transplantation. 2014;14(9):2055-61.
- 141. Han D, Miller RJH, Otaki Y, Gransar H, Kransdorf E, Hamilton M, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance for Cardiac Transplant Rejection. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2021;14(12):2337-49.
- 142. Dolan RS, Rahsepar AA, Blaisdell J, Suwa K, Ghafourian K, Wilcox JE, et al. Multiparametric Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Imaging Can Detect Acute Cardiac Allograft Rejection After Heart Transplantation. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging. 2019;12(8_Part_2):1632-41.
- 143. Anthony C, Imran M, Pouliopoulos J, Emmanuel S, Iliff J, Liu Z, et al. Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance for Rejection Surveillance After Cardiac Transplantation. Circulation. 2022;145(25):1811-24.
- 144. Dew MA, Roth LH, Schulberg HC, Simmons RG, Kormos RL, Trzepacz PT, et al. Prevalence and predictors of depression and anxiety-related disorders during the year after heart transplantation. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 1996;18(6 Suppl):48s-61s.
- 145. Baranyi A, Krauseneck T, Rothenhäusler HB. Overall mental distress and healthrelated quality of life after solid-organ transplantation: results from a retrospective follow-up study. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2013;11:15.
- 146. Stehlik J, Edwards LB, Kucheryavaya AY, Aurora P, Christie JD, Kirk R, et al. The Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: twentyseventh official adult heart transplant report--2010. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2010;29(10):1089-103.
- 147. Mehra MR, Canter CE, Hannan MM, Semigran MJ, Uber PA, Baran DA, et al. The 2016 International Society for Heart Lung Transplantation listing criteria for heart transplantation: A 10-year update. The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 2016;35(1):1-23.
- 148. Letnes JM, Dalen H, Aspenes ST, Salvesen Ø, Wisløff U, Nes BM. Age-related change in peak oxygen uptake and change of cardiovascular risk factors. The HUNT Study. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2020;63(6):730-7.
- Nytrøen K, Rolid K, Yardley M, Gullestad L. Effect of high-intensity interval training in young heart transplant recipients: results from two randomized controlled trials. BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2020;12(1):35.

- Scandiatransplant organ exchange organization (Aarhus University Hospital, Skejby, Denmark). Available from: <u>http://www.scandiatransplant.org/</u>. Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 151. The Swedish thoracic transplantation registry (STRAX) [Available from: <u>https://strax.registercentrum.se/</u>. Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 152. Jernberg T, Attebring MF, Hambraeus K, Ivert T, James S, Jeppsson A, et al. The Swedish Web-system for enhancement and development of evidence-based care in heart disease evaluated according to recommended therapies (SWEDEHEART). Heart. 2010;96(20):1617-21.
- 153. Swedish National Cause of Death Registry. Available from: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/statistics-and-data/registers/</u>. Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 154. Wareham NE, Da Cunha-Bang C, Borges Á H, Ekenberg C, Gerstoft J, Gustafsson F, et al. Classification of death causes after transplantation (CLASS): Evaluation of methodology and initial results. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97(29):e11564.
- 155. Statistiska Centralbyrån. Available from: www.scb.se. Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 156. Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. National Patient Registry. Available from: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/statistics-and-data/registers/national-patient-register/</u>. Accessed 6 August 2024
- 157. Statistics Sweden (SCB). Total Population Registry. Available from: <u>https://www.scb.se/contentassets/8f66bcf5abc34d0b98afa4fcbfc0e060/rtb-bar-2016-eng.pdf</u> Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 158. Statistics Sweden (SCB). Available from: <u>https://www.scb.se/en/</u> Accessed 6 August 2024.
- 159. Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. National Prescribed Drug Register. Available from: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/en/statistics-and-</u> <u>data/registers/national-prescribed-drug-register/</u> Accessed 6 August 2024.
- Sundquist J, Ohlsson H, Sundquist K, Kendler KS. Common adult psychiatric disorders in Swedish primary care where most mental health patients are treated. BMC Psychiatry. 2017;17(1):235.
- 161. Kellman P, Hansen MS, Nielles-Vallespin S, Nickander J, Themudo R, Ugander M, et al. Myocardial perfusion cardiovascular magnetic resonance: optimized dual sequence and reconstruction for quantification. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2017;19(1):43.
- 162. Kellman P, Aletras AH, Mancini C, McVeigh ER, Arai AE. T2-prepared SSFP improves diagnostic confidence in edema imaging in acute myocardial infarction compared to turbo spin echo. Magn Reson Med. 2007;57(5):891-7.
- 163. Heiberg E, Sjögren J, Ugander M, Carlsson M, Engblom H, Arheden H. Design and validation of Segment--freely available software for cardiovascular image analysis. BMC Med Imaging. 2010;10:1.
- 164. Carlsson M, Ugander M, Heiberg E, Arheden H. The quantitative relationship between longitudinal and radial function in left, right, and total heart pumping in humans. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007;293(1):H636-44.

- 165. Carlsson M, Ugander M, Mosén H, Buhre T, Arheden H. Atrioventricular plane displacement is the major contributor to left ventricular pumping in healthy adults, athletes, and patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007;292(3):H1452-9.
- 166. Seemann F, Pahlm U, Steding-Ehrenborg K, Ostenfeld E, Erlinge D, Dubois-Rande JL, et al. Time-resolved tracking of the atrioventricular plane displacement in Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance (CMR) images. BMC Med Imaging. 2017;17(1):19.
- 167. Schulz-Menger J, Bluemke DA, Bremerich J, Flamm SD, Fogel MA, Friedrich MG, et al. Standardized image interpretation and post processing in cardiovascular magnetic resonance: Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance (SCMR) board of trustees task force on standardized post processing. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2013;15(1):35.
- 168. Stephensen S, Steding-Ehrenborg K, Munkhammar P, Heiberg E, Arheden H, Carlsson M. The relationship between longitudinal, lateral, and septal contribution to stroke volume in patients with pulmonary regurgitation and healthy volunteers. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2014;306(6):H895-903.
- 169. Cerqueira MD, Weissman NJ, Dilsizian V, Jacobs AK, Kaul S, Laskey WK, et al. Standardized myocardial segmentation and nomenclature for tomographic imaging of the heart. A statement for healthcare professionals from the Cardiac Imaging Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology of the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2002;105(4):539-42.
- Uren NG, Melin JA, De Bruyne B, Wijns W, Baudhuin T, Camici PG. Relation between myocardial blood flow and the severity of coronary-artery stenosis. N Engl J Med. 1994;330(25):1782-8.
- 171. Arena R, Myers J, Abella J, Peberdy MA, Bensimhon D, Chase P, et al. Development of a ventilatory classification system in patients with heart failure. Circulation. 2007;115(18):2410-7.
- 172. McKee M. What do people die from? The challenges of measuring disease burden posed by multi-morbidity. Isr J Health Policy Res. 2015;4:53.
- 173. Kircher T, Anderson RE. Cause of death. Proper completion of the death certificate. Jama. 1987;258(3):349-52.
- 174. Vishram-Nielsen JKK, Nelson LM, Fan CP, Foroutan F, Gustafsson F, Billia F, et al. Impact of serial measurements of tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion on mortality and morbidity after heart transplantation. Clin Transplant. 2022;36(6):e14662.
- 175. Shrestha UM, Sciammarella M, Pampaloni MH, Botvinick EH, Gullberg GT, DeMarco T, et al. Assessment of late-term progression of cardiac allograft vasculopathy in patients with orthotopic heart transplantation using quantitative cardiac (82)Rb PET. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2021;37(4):1461-72.
- 176. Lundbäck S. Cardiac pumping and function of the ventricular septum. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl. 1986;550:1-101.

- 177. Weiss ES, Meguid RA, Patel ND, Russell SD, Shah AS, Baumgartner WA, et al. Increased mortality at low-volume orthotopic heart transplantation centers: should current standards change? Ann Thorac Surg. 2008;86(4):1250-9; discussion 9-60.
- Shuhaiber JH, Moore J, Dyke DB. The effect of transplant center volume on survival after heart transplantation: a multicenter study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2010;139(4):1064-9.
- 179. Pettit SJ, Jhund PS, Hawkins NM, Gardner RS, Haj-Yahia S, McMurray JJ, et al. How small is too small? A systematic review of center volume and outcome after cardiac transplantation. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2012;5(6):783-90.
- 180. Grimm JC, Kilic A, Shah AS, Trent Magruder J, Valero V, 3rd, Dungan SP, et al. The influence of institutional volume on the incidence of complications and their effect on mortality after heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34(11):1390-7.
- 181. Hsich E, Singh TP, Cherikh WS, Harhay MO, Hayes D, Perch M, et al. The International thoracic organ transplant registry of the international society for heart and lung transplantation: Thirty-ninth adult heart transplantation report-2022; focus on transplant for restrictive heart disease. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2022;41(10):1366-75.
- 182. Alpérovitch A, Bertrand M, Jougla E, Vidal JS, Ducimetière P, Helmer C, et al. Do we really know the cause of death of the very old? Comparison between official mortality statistics and cohort study classification. Eur J Epidemiol. 2009;24(11):669-75.
- 183. Burger EH, Groenewald P, Bradshaw D, Ward AM, Yudkin PL, Volmink J. Validation study of cause of death statistics in Cape Town, South Africa, found poor agreement. J Clin Epidemiol. 2012;65(3):309-16.
- 184. Johansson LA, Björkenstam C, Westerling R. Unexplained differences between hospital and mortality data indicated mistakes in death certification: an investigation of 1,094 deaths in Sweden during 1995. J Clin Epidemiol. 2009;62(11):1202-9.